

University of Huddersfield Repository

Leitch, Bethany Kate

A Zen Lens: An alternative way of thinking about a group of contemporary landscape photographers.

Original Citation

Leitch, Bethany Kate (2021) A Zen Lens: An alternative way of thinking about a group of contemporary landscape photographers. Masters thesis, University of Huddersfield.

This version is available at http://eprints.hud.ac.uk/id/eprint/35677/

The University Repository is a digital collection of the research output of the University, available on Open Access. Copyright and Moral Rights for the items on this site are retained by the individual author and/or other copyright owners. Users may access full items free of charge; copies of full text items generally can be reproduced, displayed or performed and given to third parties in any format or medium for personal research or study, educational or not-for-profit purposes without prior permission or charge, provided:

- The authors, title and full bibliographic details is credited in any copy;
- A hyperlink and/or URL is included for the original metadata page; and
- The content is not changed in any way.

For more information, including our policy and submission procedure, please contact the Repository Team at: E.mailbox@hud.ac.uk.

http://eprints.hud.ac.uk/

A Zen Lens

An alternative way of thinking about a group of contemporary landscape photographers.

Bethany Kate Leitch

A thesis submitted to the University of Huddersfield for the Degree of Master of Arts by Research

August 2021

<u>Abstract</u>

The photographers explored in this thesis are: Awoiska van der Molen, Thomas Joshua Cooper, Boomoon, Minny Lee, Jungjin Lee and Janelle Lynch. These photographers have been grouped as there are common strategies in their work and process of making which are: they all photograph fundamental natural elements, they all embrace an embodied slowness as part of their process of making and there is an embodied openness in the process of viewing their work. Discussion of landscape imagery often relies on Western aesthetics, namely the sublime, the picturesque and the beautiful. However, the common strategies identified in these photographers' work have some difficulties with being discussed from a Western aesthetic perspective. Driven by the frustration of struggling to discuss the photographers' work from a Western aesthetics point of view, this thesis considers these common strategies through a Zen Buddhist way of thinking. In the discussion of Zen Buddhism, this thesis turns to the writings of D.T. Suzuki (who discusses the idea of experiences being necessary in the understanding of Zen) and Jon Kabat-Zinn (who discusses the concept of being present in the moment in relation to Buddhist mindfulness). It is through exploring these writers that this thesis identifies key characteristics of Zen which aid the discussion of the photographers' work. These are: being present in the moment, being contemplative and an embodied openness.

Copyright Statement

- The author of this thesis (including any appendices and/or schedules to this thesis) owns any copyright in it (the "Copyright") and she has given The University of Huddersfield the right to use such Copyright for any administrative, promotional, educational and/or teaching.
- Copies of this thesis, either in full or in extracts, may be made only in accordance with the regulations of the University. Details of these regulations may be obtained from the Librarian. This page must form part of any such copies made.
- iii. The ownership of any patents, designs, trademarks and any and all other intellectual property rights except for the Copyright (the "Intellectual Property Rights") and any reproductions of copyright works, for example graphs and tables ("Reproductions"), which may be described in this thesis, may not be owned by the author and may be owned by third Such Intellectual Property Rights and Reproductions cannot and must not be made available for use without permission of the owner(s) of the relevant Intellectual Property Rights and/or Reproductions.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisors Yan Preston and Liam Devlin for their guidance and support throughout this research project. They have always encouraged me to believe in my ideas and abilities as a writer, researcher and photographer.

I would also like to thank other staff members and researchers at the University of Huddersfield for always being available to discuss my ideas and reassuring me throughout the process of writing. Thank you to the photographers whose work is discussed in this thesis, for inspiring me not only in the idea of this thesis but also as a photographer.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends for their encouragement and reassurance. Thank you for always believing in me.

Contents

Figure List	6
Introduction	7
Chapter 1: An Enquiry into a Zen Way of Thinking	
- 1.1. Landscape Imagery and Aesthetics	11
- 1.2. The Sublime	15
- 1.3. Zen - A Surrender of Power	19
- 1.4. Zen	24
Chapter 2: Embodied Slowness in Making	31
- 2.1. Walking	31
- 2.2. Waiting	35
- 2.3. Equipment	37
- 2.4. Working in Solitude	39
Chapter 3: Fundamental Elements	42
- 3.1. Fundamental Elements	42
- 3.2. Water	43
- 3.3. Earth	48
- 3.4. Framing	52
- 3.5. Light	54
- 3.6. Blur	56
Chapter 4: Embodied Openness in Viewing	
- 4.1. Minny Lee	58
- 4.2. Jungjin Lee	60
- 4.3. Janelle Lynch	62
- 4.4. Awoiska van der Molen	64
- 4.5. Thomas Joshua Cooper	66
- 4.6. Boomoon	69
Conclusion	72
References	76
Bibliography	82

Word Count: 27,323

<u>Figure List</u>

Figure		Page
1	The Monk by the Sea (Friedrich, 1808-1810)	11
2	North Sea (Chen, 1368-1644)	12
3	The Swelling of the Sea Furthest West - The Atlantic Ocean (Cooper, 1990-2001)	12
4	Monolith, the Face of Half Dome (Adams, 1927)	22
5	Ensō (Reirin, n.d.)	29
6	Falling Water #5580 (Boomoon, n.d.)	45
7	Falling Water #8350 (Boomoon, n.d.)	45
8	Falling Water Screenshot (Boomoon, n.d.)	45
9	The Swelling of the Sea Furthest West - The Atlantic Ocean (Cooper, 1990-2001)	46
10	First Light—The South Indian Ocean, the Cape of Good Hope (Cooper, n.d.)	47
11	Family Portraits (Lynch, 2017)	48
12	Another Way of Looking at Love (Lynch, 2015-2018)	49
13	Another Way of Looking at Love (Lynch, 2015-2018)	49
14	<i>Voice</i> (Lee, 2018-2019)	51
15	Rocks (Leitch, 2020)	52
16	Rocks (Leitch, 2020)	52
17	Sequester (Van der Molen, 2011)	54
18	Coast (Leitch, 2020)	55
19	Encounters (Lee, 2008-2010)	56
20	Encounters (Lee, 2008-2010)	56
21	Encounters (Lee, 2008-2010)	56
22	Encounters Book (Lee, 2015)	59
23	Opening Book (Lee, 2017)	60
24	Opening Exhibition (Lee, n.d.)	60
25	Accordion pages of "Janelle Lynch: Another Way of Looking at Love" (Lynch, 2018)	63
26	Blanco book (Van der Molen, 2017)	65
27	True book (Cooper, 2009)	67
28	West - Looking towards Sweden (Cooper, 2009)	68
29	Maps in True (Cooper, 2009)	69
30	Naksan (Boomoon, 2010)	70

Introduction

When exploring landscape imagery (for example, photographs, paintings, drawings) there are existing established aesthetics that are often used to describe the work being discussed. The term 'aesthetics' refers to a branch of philosophy that is concerned with the nature of beauty and taste and can be associated with different principles or theories which underly a particular artist movement or style (Britannica, n.d.). Frequently used aesthetics in the discussion of landscape imagery are the picturesque, the beautiful and the sublime, all of which have a Western origin (typically forming in Europe). These aesthetics are regularly used in the discussion of landscape art and therefore represent a particular way of understanding the physical landscape and landscape imagery from a Western way of thinking. Landscape imagery shapes and reflects human relationships with the land. How the landscape is understood and viewed, is dependent on one's personal understanding, beliefs and cultural influences. Thus, if the discussion surrounding aesthetics in landscape imagery predominantly consists of Western ideas, then one's relationship with the land might be influenced in a particular way because of this.

This thesis aims to understand a loosely grouped set of contemporary landscape photographers: Awoiska van der Molen, Thomas Joshua Cooper, Janelle Lynch, Boomoon, Jungjin Lee and Minny Lee. When considering these selected contemporary landscape photographers, some difficulties with discussing their work through Western aesthetics arise. For example, the sublime is concerned with reaching the edge of the known and facing the unknown. It is when facing the unknown that one feels an overwhelming sense of fear. This idea of reaching the edge of the known and feeling fear can be associated with power as it can be said that knowledge is power. With more knowledge one can say they have more power as they know more about the world. However, it can be suggested that the selected photographers surrender their power.

The surrender of power in this thesis is associated with embracing the unknown. The photographers create ambiguous photographs where the information about the location is deliberately withheld from the viewer. This encourages contemplation both in the process of making and the process of viewing the work. The surrender of power is achieved through rejecting the common ideologies of the fast-paced world, the removal of any sense of who owns the land, and reflecting on the landscape in an internal and contemplative way which requires slowing down and being solely in the moment. This surrender of power can be considered as a key departure from Western understandings of landscape imagery as the work being discussed in this thesis

embraces the unknown rather than fearing it. By stepping away from Western aesthetics, an alternative way of thinking might be required in order to understand the work of the contemporary landscape photographers' in this thesis. This thesis proposes that the Buddhist thinking of Zen can be considered as an alternative way of thinking about these photographers. Existing research into landscape aesthetics have tended to focus on the Western notions of the sublime, the picturesque and the beautiful, rather than on Eastern notions of Zen. Although Zen is not typically used as a way of thinking about landscape imagery, it can be an alternative way of understanding a group of selected landscape photographers.

There are three key terms that need to be outlined. Firstly, the main key term is *Zen* which is the central idea in this thesis and will be developed and discussed in more detail later. Therefore, whilst it is important to identify Zen as a key term it will only be discussed briefly within this introduction. Zen is a Buddhist belief and practice that is a combination of both Taoist ideas and Mahayana Buddhist ideas. The term Zen is the Japanese pronunciation of the Chinese word Chan and it is a term that translates to mediation or mental concentration. Therefore, often the discussion of Zen Buddhism is around the idea of meditation in order to rid oneself of suffering and to be at one with the world. Zen as a term and concept is not typically a way of thinking about landscape photography since Zen is not pictorial in its essence. However, ideas can be drawn from Zen in order to discuss the contemporary landscape photographers in this thesis. The ideas that are drawn from Zen are the ideas of being present in the moment, internal contemplation and openness.

Secondly, in this thesis the term *landscape* is often used. The term *landscape* can be a challenging term to use due to its varied meanings, contexts and interpretations. There are a vast array of contexts in which the term landscape can be used such as: architecture, painting, geography, and gardening. For example, in geographical terms, landscape is "part of the Earth's surface that can be viewed at one time from one place. It consists of the geographic features that mark, or are characteristic of, a particular area" (National Geographic, n.d.). However, the etymology of the term originates from the Dutch word '*landschap*' which was a term used to describe paintings of natural scenery. In this thesis, the landscape might also be referred to as environment, area, space or place depending on the way in which the term is used. Although these definitions are variations of the term landscape, this thesis focuses on landscape (2003) by Rod Giblett and Juha Tolonen, they state: "The camera objectifies the land as landscape and in doing so renders it as a visual phenomenon for the sense of sight and as a surface for aesthetic appreciation" (Giblett & Tolonen,

2003, p.53). Thus, before the landscape was interacted with the area was considered a section of land. Through photography the photographer turns the landscape into an object to be seen and interpreted by the viewers. A landscape photograph can therefore be considered as the photographer's personal framing of a section of land, rather than being a realistic depiction of the geographical landscape. As each photographer goes to different places to take a photograph, the landscape in this thesis cannot be described in the way it visually looks or as a characteristic of a particular area. Rather it could be described in terms of what the landscape provides. The photographers in this thesis all have common strategies which are: they all embrace an embodied slowness in their process of making, they all photograph fundamental elements and they all create work that is open to interpretation and contemplation. The common strategies will be discussed alongside the three previously stated aspects of Zen: being present in the moment, being contemplative and embodied openness. Therefore, the term landscape in this thesis refers to the area of land chosen by each photographer which allows them to embrace these three strategies. When this thesis discusses landscape photography, it also important to mention an alternative phrase that might be used. Although these photographers are thought of as landscape photographers, they could also be considered as *elemental* photographers. The definition of elemental photography in this thesis is photography that focuses predominantly on fundamental elements which is one of the common strategies in the photographers' work. Although the term elemental photography is not necessarily a coined term, in this thesis it could be considered as an alternative definition of the photographic content created by the selected contemporary landscape photographers. Therefore, in this thesis, the work could be considered as both landscape photography and elemental photography.

Thirdly, another key term often used in this thesis is *nature*. The term nature can be a contested term to use as it has a vast amount of research into it and, similarly to landscape, can be considered in a variety of contexts. For example, one might use the term nature when referring to a human's innate qualities (human nature) or in ecology it is associated with the balance of living organisms (the balance of nature). Although this thesis has an awareness of the many definitions of nature, when the terms *nature* or *natural world* are used they refer to a landscape that is less dominated by visible signs of human intervention and predominantly contains elements that exist in the landscape naturally and are not placed there by humans. Most landscapes now have some form of human intervention in it as most landscapes have been explored by people. Extreme wilderness is very difficult to find. Therefore, it is important to say that the natural world is reflected in the landscape photography in this thesis by disguising the visible signs of human intervention in the work. It can also be

said that any landscape photograph reflects human presence in the landscape as the photographer has to physically be in the landscape for the photograph to be taken. Thus, although not visible in the final photograph, the landscapes that these photographers go to are ones in which human intervention is present due to their own presence in the landscape. Therefore, the terms *nature* and *natural world* in relation to the photography in this thesis cannot refer to an entirely natural landscape. Rather, the terms can be used to discuss work that does not reflect on the visible human aspect in the landscape. It can also be suggested that the selected photographers connect with nature when in the physical landscape. This means that they might engage with nature in order to search for the unconscious feeling of knowing when to take a photograph. This relationship with nature can be achieved by having an embodied slowness in the process of making that can give the photographer time for internal contemplation which allows for both internal and external discoveries to be made. Therefore, nature in this thesis is not only a landscape that has less visible signs of human intervention, it also becomes a place for a relationship to be made with both the external natural world and the internal self.

The purpose of this thesis is to try and understand a group of contemporary landscape photographers through a Zen way of thinking. This idea is considered through photographer case studies and the discussion of Zen ideas. This thesis is structured as follows: in Chapter 1, the sublime will be discussed as a stepping stone for this alternative way of thinking to be considered. The chapter will first of all outline the sublime in existing research before considering landscape and power as a key departure from the aesthetic. The chapter will then continue to consider the Eastern notion of Zen and the key aspects that can be drawn from it to discuss the contemporary landscape photographers in this thesis. In Chapter 2, the photographers' embodied slowness in their process of making will be discussed. This embodied slowness is considered through the process of walking, waiting, the photographers' equipment and the idea of working in solitude. In Chapter 3, the visible aspects of the photographs will be discussed. The main idea in Chapter 3 is the subject matter of fundamental elements which will first of all be defined before considering them in relation to the photographers' work. This chapter will then also discuss ways that reflect how the photographers look at these fundamental elements. These visual strategies are the use of light, blur and how they frame the landscape. Finally, in Chapter 4, the process of viewing the work will be discussed using the concept of an embodied openness. The basis of the discussion in Chapter 4 will be around the photographers' books and the strategies used to direct and encourage the viewers' interpretation of the work.

Chapter 1: An Enquiry into a Zen Way of Thinking

In the introduction to this thesis it was stated that landscape imagery is often discussed alongside aesthetics. Often these aesthetics are from a Western origin and it could be considered that one's understanding of landscape imagery might be influenced by Western thought because of this. However, there can be alternative ways of thinking about landscape imagery. In order to consider how different images can be understood through a different way of thinking, this chapter will first of all consider visually similar images which are understood through different aesthetic ideas.

1.1. Landscape imagery and aesthetics

In considering the idea that one's understanding of landscape can be determined by their personal experiences and perspectives, this thesis turns to landscape imagery, in order to consider how different images could be interpreted in relation to aesthetics. The three images chosen to discuss this concept are: *The Monk by the Sea* by Caspar David Friedrich, *The North Sea* by Zhou Chen, and *The Swelling of the Sea* [*Furthest West - Atlantic Ocean* by Thomas Joshua Cooper. These landscape images have been selected because they can all be read through different aesthetic ideas. For example, Caspar David Friedrich's painting can be read through the Western notion of the sublime, Zhou Chen's painting can be read through a combination of the two ideas. The sublime becomes a stepping stone for considering Zen in relation to contemporary landscape photography. Thus, Cooper's photograph is an interesting example of how landscape photography can be considered from both perspectives.



Figure 1: The Monk by the Sea (Friedrich, 1808-1810)



Figure 2: North Sea (Chen, 1368-1644)



Figure 3: The Swelling of the Sea | Furthest West - The Atlantic Ocean (Cooper, 1990-2001)

Both Figure 1 and 2 are paintings, whereas Figure 3 is a photograph. The three images are visually similar as they all portray a stormy sea and contain a figure which is dwarfed by the landscape. Although in Figure 3, the human figure is not visually seen in the photograph, the photographer themselves is implicitly in the photograph. This is because the photographer needed to be in the physical landscape when taking the photograph whereas Chen and Friedrich could have painted their paintings from an interior studio. In relation to Cooper's photograph, the figure although not visually seen is implied by the concept of being in the physical landscape to take the image. Thus, the photographer's process of making is key in exploring their work. This process of making will be discussed in Chapter 2. However, in this section, the visual aspects of the three landscape images will be analysed in relation to aesthetics.

Firstly, Figure 1 can be discussed. Friedrich (1774-1840) was a German painter whose work is often associated with Romanticism and the sublime. The sublime will be discussed in more detail later in this chapter, but it is important to mention that the sublime is an aesthetic that is associated with an

overwhelming feeling caused by the fear of the unknown and the forces of nature in the landscape. Whilst viewing Figure 1, one could suggest the sublime is present due to the vastness of the landscape and the strong forces of the stormy sea, both of which are emphasised by the figure in the landscape. The Art Story website identifies that the figure in Friedrich's painting can be known as a rückenfigur, as the website states: "the solitary figure turned towards and in communion with the landscape, known as 'ruckenfigur,' is one of the key ways German Romanticism differentiates itself from French and British Romanticism" (Art Story, n.d.). The Art Story states that the figure is turned towards the landscape in communion which means sharing intimate thoughts and feelings. As this painting is associated with the sublime, the rückenfigur could be facing the landscape with the feeling of being overwhelmed or fearful as he faces the stormy sea. Thus, the figure can be understood as a representation of trying to understand the forces of nature in order to gain control of the situation. As the figure looks towards the stormy sea, the viewer can only imagine the force behind the ocean that the figure is faced with. The painting therefore encourages the viewer to consider the overwhelming feeling associated with the sublime.

Figure 1 is often read through notions of the sublime. This is due to the audience often being from a Western background in which Western aesthetics strongly influence the discussion of landscape imagery. Although this painting is commonly associated with the sublime, if a non-Western painter were to view it and interpret it then the painting might not be viewed as a sublime image. This is because in China, the sublime is not an aesthetic used to discuss landscape paintings. Thus, the way this painting is viewed can depend on the cultural background of the audience. This links to Figure 2 by Zhou Chen as this is a Chinese painting which is typically read through notions of Zen and Taoism.

Zhou Chen was a Chinese painter active in the Ming Dynasty (1368-1644). As stated on the Metropolitan Museum of Art website "In Ming painting, the traditions of both the Southern Song painting academy and the Yuan (1271–1368) scholar-artist were developed further" (Metropolitan Museum of Art, n.d.). In the Yuan dynasty, painters reflected more on their inner spirit rather than direct observations of what was seen in the landscape. In the Ming Dynasty, this concept was explored further. Zhou's painting is visually similar to Friedrich's, since the figure is also small in scale compared to the vast landscape. Wai-yu Leung in his journal article *Two Sides of Landscape in Ink-wash Painting: Chinese Landscape Painting in Expressive Arts Practice* writes that "The vast landscape in Chinese painting represents the vastness of the universe" (Leung, 2021, p.212). The landscape that is painted could be a representation of the universe as a whole. Leung goes

on to say, "The human figure in the Chinese landscape painting is usually not the protagonist, and appears very tiny in size and resides indiscriminately in the midst of nature. It metaphorically exhibits who we are in the vast cosmos" (Leung, 2021, p.212). Therefore, the figure painted in Chen's painting could be representing one's place in the universe. If this is linked to the period in which the painting was made, it could be a reflection of Chen's own place in the universe as he is becoming aware of his own existence. Although the stormy sea and clouds have connotations of the sublime, the figure in Chen's painting does not appear fearful. This could be due to the figure in the vast landscape representing the process of understanding one's place in the world. Thus, although this painting is visually similar to Friedrich's, it is not considered to be a sublime painting.

The final image used to discuss this idea of aesthetics is Thomas Joshua Cooper's photograph (Figure 3). Cooper is an American photographer of Jewish and Cherokee descent. Cooper's photograph is being used as a combination of Zen and sublime ideas in order to consider how the work can be read through different ways of thinking. Firstly, Cooper's photograph could be considered as a sublime photograph due to the stormy sea, which encourages the viewer to imagine the forces of nature when viewing it. There is an element of the unknown as the photograph fades into darkness in the top left-hand corner. Thus, there is an element of fear as one does not know what lies in the darkness or beneath the swirling ocean's surface. This fear of the unknown is often linked to the sublime. This photograph differs to the two paintings previously discussed as it does not visually contain a human figure. Yet, it does imply the presence of the photographer. In the discussion of Zhou Chen's painting (Figure 2) it was mentioned that during the Yuan dynasty (1271–1368) and Ming dynasty (1368-1644) painters reflected more on their inner spirit rather than direct observations of what was seen in the landscape. In an essay by Ben Tufnell in which he discusses Cooper's photographs he writes:

He stands with his back to the land and looks out at the sea. His characteristic position here is one of looking out - at the void - and thereby looking inwards. For the gaze that lights upon a blank plane is inevitably turned back upon itself (Tufnell, 2009).

Thus, the symbolism of the figure in Chen's painting possibly reflecting on Chen's own understanding of his place in the world, could be similar to Cooper's gaze in his work. Cooper's work becomes a reflection of his inner self as he gazes out into the void, and this internal reflection has similar ideas to the Chinese landscape

painting discussed in relation to Chen's work. This internal reflection has similarities with Zen which leads to the consideration of Zen being a way of thinking about this landscape photograph.

By discussing these three visually similar landscape images, this section has explored the idea of landscape images being interpreted and understood in different ways dependent on the cultural contexts in which they are viewed. This can be linked to my own personal cultural influences. As a researcher and photographer from Western Europe, the majority of my understanding on landscape imagery has been one heavily influenced by Western aesthetics and ideas. When researching landscape imagery, there initially was a predominant focus on the sublime, which influenced my understanding and interpretations of the work. Although there is no denying the importance that the sublime and the other existing aesthetics have had on the discussion of landscape imagery, when contemplating the photography explored in this thesis, it was considered whether they could be grouped as sublime photographs. The photographers in this thesis have common strategies which are found in their way of working, the final photographs and the process of viewing. These common strategies which have previously been listed contain elements of internal contemplation and openness that is personal to each photographer and viewer. Through considering the landscape images previously, these strategies can be linked to the internal reflection associated with Chinese landscape painting and Zen. Thus, although these common strategies can be considered from a sublime perspective, this thesis considers whether there could be an alternative way of understanding the work of selected contemporary landscape photographers. The sublime became a stepping stone for the consideration of the Buddhist thinking of Zen being an alternative way of understanding a loosely grouped set of contemporary landscape photographers. Although Zen is of an Eastern Asian origin and is not typically an aesthetic or a way of thinking about landscape imagery, this thesis proposes that Zen is a way of thinking that can be used in the discussion of both Western and Eastern landscape photographs.

1.2. The Sublime

As the sublime was the stepping stone for the consideration of an alternative way of understanding contemporary landscape photography, it requires further exploration in order to understand its importance. It also needs discussing in order to understand why the photographers in this thesis might benefit from an alternative way of understanding their work.

Research into the sublime has a long history. The concept of the sublime can date back to the 14th or 15th century in the Italian Renaissance period when paintings of death were made, creating a feeling of the unknown as to what happens when one dies and the fear of death itself. However, the aesthetic stance did not really take place until the 17th Century when Nicolas Boileau-Despréaux published a translated copy of Longinus' *On the Sublime* (thought to have originally been written in the 1st Century AD). What is interesting is that Longinus associated the sublime with language and thus this shows how the sublime can be a challenging concept to discuss. For example, it is a term used when discussing literature, art and nature and more recently in the 21st Century, when discussing urban landscapes. When discussing urban landscapes, often the phrase *toxic sublime* will be used. Jennifer Peeples in her article *Toxic Sublime: Imaging Contaminated Landscapes* states: "I define the term 'toxic sublime' as the tensions that arise from recognizing the toxicity of a place, object or situation, while simultaneously appreciating its mystery, magnificence and ability to inspire awe" (Peeples, 2011, p.375). Peoples uses the toxic sublime to discuss Edward Burtynsky's photographs of industrial landscapes.

In landscape art, the sublime is often associated with the feeling of fear or a feeling of being overwhelmed when faced with nature. Not all nature will stimulate a sublime response. The sublime in nature is often associated with stormy seas, a dark forest or a mountain filled with chasms and dizzying heights. This feeling of fear or being overwhelmed in relation to a sublime response was often seen during the Romantic period, which began in the late 18th Century. The Romantic period was a movement in which artists and writers had new interests surrounding the ideas of emotions and nature. The Tate mentions that the new interests of Romanticism are "human psychology, expression of personal feeling and interest in the natural world" (Tate, n.d.). Thus, this feeling of fear when faced with nature could be what was classed as a new interest for artists in the Romantic period as it portrays expression and human psychology. Despite the vast amount of research previously conducted on the sublime and the many variations of how the term can be used, this thesis discusses the sublime to try and understand how Zen can also be used to study landscapes and landscape imagery.

Although there has been an extensive amount of research into the sublime previously, this thesis turns to two philosophers' ideas in order to discuss the aesthetic in more detail. These two philosophers are Edmund Burke and Immanuel Kant. Edmund Burke in his book *A Philosophical Inquiry into the Origin of*

Our Ideas of the Sublime and Beautiful (1757) discusses the feelings surrounding the sublime and the beautiful. He proposes that the feeling of fear and terror produces a feeling of delight which he later calls "delightful horror" (Burke, 1757). He describes this delightful horror as "a sort of tranquillity tinged with terror; which, as it belongs to self-preservation, is one of the strongest of all passions. Its object is the sublime" (Burke, 1757, p.130). Thus, one feels the effect of fear and the forces of nature but is also calm as one is aware they are not really in danger. For example, when viewing a landscape photograph that could be associated with the sublime, one might realise they are not really in danger as they view the overwhelming forces of nature that are represented photographically. Thus, the delight comes from an awareness that one is safe. In Burke's research on the sublime, he also discusses different aspects that he suggests are sources of the sublime. These consist of: power, privation, vastness, infinity, succession and uniformity, difficulty, magnificence and light. Although this thesis is using Zen to discuss a group of contemporary landscape photographers, it is not to say that the photographs are only related to Zen, they could still be classed as the sublime too. Burke's sources of the sublime might be visual aspects of the photographs. For example, vastness could be represented as a large expanse of water. However, these sources of the sublime could also be approached from a Zen way of thinking.

Immanuel Kant also discusses the sublime aesthetic, but he proposes different ideas as to what the sublime is and what the sublime does. Unlike Burke, Kant suggests there are two different types of the sublime: the mathematical and the dynamical. The mathematical sublime discusses the idea that one's ability to grasp the vastness of nature is impossible. However, one's attempt to understand the vastness of nature creates what Kant calls the faculty of reason (Kant, 1790). It is the faculty of reason which allows the sublime to be experienced. It consists "first of frustration at the inability of the understanding to grasp an absolute whole with the assistance of the imagination, followed by pleasure at the realization of the fact that our imagination also reflects the demands of our reason" (Kant, 1790, p.31). This links to a more recently written book titled *The Sublime in Modern Philosophy: Aesthetics, Ethics and Nature* (2013) by Emily Brady as she states "the most visceral part of the sublime reaction, a feeling of being overwhelmed by size or power, is linked to the ways in which an object strikes the senses and imagination" (Brady, 2013, p130). This links to the mathematical sublime as it discusses how one at first is overwhelmed by nature, but this is then followed by pleasure at is allows one's imagination to be embraced. In contrast to the mathematical sublime, the dynamical sublime discusses how man's physical powers against nature are small, but it is argued that humans do have a power within them that can withstand the forces of nature. Thus, humans have a

superiority over nature. In the book *Introducing Kant* (2011) by Christopher Kul-Want and Andrzej Klimowski, it is stated that "In the dynamic sublime, formless experience occurs through interaction with "Nature as a might"" (Kul-Want & Klimowski, 2011). "Nature as a might" refers to overwhelming forces in nature that have the potential for destructive power. Nature as a might is also described as formless as it exceeds one's ability to perceive form due to its scale and force. Our power can be small in contrast to nature's might. Kant refers to these overwhelming forces as:

Bold, overhanging, and as it were threatening, rocks; clouds piled up in the sky, moving with lightning flashes and thunder peals; volcanoes in all their violence of destruction; hurricanes with their track of devastations; the boundless ocean in a state of tumult; the lofty waterfall of mighty river, and such like (Kant, 1790).

The forces that Kant discusses provide a feeling of terror as one who experiences them begins to feel inferior to the object (the forces in nature). Although the sublime in nature is generated by these forces, the sublime is more about experiencing ourselves as we navigate the feelings aroused by a sublime experience. By having a sublime experience, one might initially feel overwhelmed and experience terror, however one's mind gives way to other feelings. Want and Klimowski comment on this sublime experience by saying: "But other feelings ensue as a counter-force indicating a condition of "free-judgement"" (Want & Klimowski, 2011). It is through experiencing ourselves in a sublime context that one has a feeling of this free-judgement. Philip Shaw in his book *The Sublime* (2017) also comments on this sublime experience by stating: "Similarly with the dynamical sublime, in contemplating might from afar the mind realises the rational idea of *freedom* = from the slavish dependance on nature and the faculty of the imagination" (Shaw, 2017). Therefore, although the dynamic sublime can be linked with humans having the power to withstand the powers of nature, it is through internal contemplation and imagination that allows one to have a sense of freedom from nature's might. This can allow one to experience pleasure despite initially feeling terror. Therefore, the mathematical sublime is one in which nature has superiority over humans as it influences one to imagine the forces and vastness of nature. Whereas, with the dynamical sublime, humans have superiority over nature as they can withstand the forces of the elements.

The experience of being in the physical landscape is important when considering the photographers' work. As previously mentioned, the dynamic sublime is an experience had through interacting with nature and its overwhelming forces. Similarly, a key concept in exploring the Zen lens is one's interaction with nature. However, the dynamic sublime can result in acknowledging humans' superiority over nature whereas Zen considers one's position to nature on a more equal ground. As the photographers in this thesis can be present in the moment whilst in the physical landscape their experience with nature is of a more equal stance. This is because as they are present in the moment they are connecting with nature. Therefore, this alternative position to nature is one reason why this thesis explores Zen as an alternative way of understanding the photographers' work. Another reason for the departure from a Western aesthetic perspective is a surrender of power which will be discussed in the following section.

1.3. Zen - A Surrender of Power

In considering Kant's "faculty of reason" this thesis turns back to Figure 1 and 2. The faculty of reason stems from one's frustration of not understanding the vastness of nature. This is then followed by pleasure as one imagines meaning rather than accepting the fear of the unknown. This is the faculty of reason as one's imagination reflects humankind's ability to reason. This reflects the discussion on the dynamic sublime where a quote from Philip Shaw's book was used to consider freedom from nature's might. As imagination gives way to reason, one can also have a sense of freedom and accept the fear they initially felt. As a human being, one has a desire to have knowledge because with more knowledge comes more power. For example, Michel Foucault, a French philosopher and historian states that "the goals of power and the goals of knowledge cannot be separated: in knowing we control and in controlling we know" (Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy, 2003). Foucault suggests that power and knowledge are two entities that cannot be separated. By having knowledge, one has power and in both give a person control. Thus, this links to the sublime. The sublime is about getting to the edge of the known and facing the unknown which causes this overwhelming fear. One might fear the unknown, and the frustration that Kant discusses could be associated with this fear, as one fears a loss of power which comes from not knowing.

Landscape is often depicted based on the idea of knowing. For example, what does one know about the place and its history? If landscape imagery can be depicted based on knowing, this thesis returns to landscape images in order to consider this concept further. Figure 1 and 2 are both paintings which have an element of emptiness. It can be said that emptiness in art is not really empty. Emptiness becomes a pictorial space in which one's knowledge, imagination and feelings generate and interpret meaning. In Western paintings (Figure 1 for example) the whole canvas is usually covered in paint. In Figure 1 the emptiness has been painted and represented by the vast landscape. The human figure in the painting looks out at the vast landscape which contains the sea and sky but nothing else. There are no other features in the painting of the landscape on which a narrative is suggested. Friedrich painted a landscape that deliberately did not contain elements which could provide narrative and this creates an element of the unknown. For example, one does not know where this landscape is or how far the ocean spreads (both past the edges of the canvas and into the distance). Therefore, in considering Kant's faculty of reason, as one understands they do not know the answers, one imagines them instead. The viewer when studying Friedrich's painting, creates and interprets the narrative that was deliberately not provided. When looking at Figure 1, the emptiness generates a fear of not knowing and the viewer, in an attempt to maintain power, turns to their imagination. Similarly, Figure 2 also contains emptiness. However, this is created through the style of painting. In Chinese painting (Figure 2) space is left completely untouched. Turning to Sheng Kuan Chung's journal article titled Looking at Art Teaching Through Zen Aesthetics (2014) he writes, "Asian painters frequently leave an unexecuted area in their work to allow the viewers to fill it in with their imagination" (Chung, 2014, p.15). Thus, the blank untouched areas are deliberately left empty and the reason for this could be to allow the viewers to look inwards at their imagination. These deliberately blank spaces relate to the Taoist belief of wu. Mario Wenning discusses the term 'wu', stating that "in its verbal usage, wu means "not being there", "not being present" as well as "not having". As a noun, it denotes "non-existence", "absence", or "nothingness" '" (Wenning, 2011, p.561). Therefore, when Asian painters leave the space untouched they could be influenced by Taoism and embrace the concept of wu. It is in wu that one might interpret and imagine meaning. Both Figure 1 and 2 use emptiness and both ways of representing emptiness potentially stimulates the viewers' imagination. However, the emptiness in both paintings have different influences on the viewer. For example, in Figure 1 (which is thought of as a sublime painting), the emptiness generates a fear of the unknown. This fear and frustration results in the viewer turning to their imagination in order to interpret ideas and meaning, in order to dilute this fear of the unknown. Whereas, in Figure 2, the Chinese landscape painting which can be associated with Zen, links to the idea that Zen lets go of knowing. The emptiness in relation to Zen thinking, becomes a space for contemplation and meditation and one's internal thoughts can be embraced rather than them being dependent on knowledge.

As seen in Kant's writing, the sublime can be associated with both man's power over nature and nature's power over mankind. In considering how Landscape and Power can be associated with aesthetics in

landscape photography. Ansel Adams will be discussed. Ansel Adams was an American photographer who was mainly known for his photographs of Yosemite. His photographs often follow Western art traditions that depict the sublime in nature. In considering the sublime in relation to landscape art aesthetics it can be said that it is challenging to 're-present' the sublime in art. For example, Philip Shaw when discussing Kant's ideas on the sublime states: "Because it lacks formal limits, the sublime, unlike the beautiful, presents a challenge to artistic representation" (Shaw, 2017). The dynamic sublime is formless as the scale of nature's forces exceeds our ability to comprehend form. However, when re-presented in art it immediately adds form to the sublime experience. Also, the dynamic sublime occurs through interaction with nature. When represented in art, the viewer does not directly interact with nature, so the dynamic sublime is not directly experiences. Therefore, when a creative practitioner 're-presents' the sublime in art, it can become more of a reflection of the sublime experience shown through artistic methods. This can become a popular concept for creative practitioners to explore as it provides them with a process to try and understand their experiences. In considering Adams' photographs through the notion of the sublime, Rod Giblett in Wilderness to Wasteland: The Sublime, the Picturesque and the Uncanny in the Photography of the American West states that "Ansel Adams' photographs of towering mountains and canyons are the obvious major expressions and exemplars of the sublime in photography" (Giblett, 2009, p.43). Thus, in relation to visual aesthetics, Adams' photographs can be considered as sublime photographs.

When discussing power in relation to landscape imagery, it is important to state that power can be considered in a variety of ways. For example, power can be discussed in a political systemic sense but in relation to the sublime it can also be discussed using Kant's understanding of the faculties of the mind. The reason for considering Adams' photographs in relation to power is because he was commissioned by the National Park Service to create a mural for one of their buildings. Yosemite itself has a vast cultural history. It used to be an area of land used by Native Americans. However, once there was a discovery of gold in California, the land was competed for. This culminated in the Mariposa Indian War which resulted in the Native Americans being driven out of the area and Yosemite being open for settlement and later tourism (National Park Service, n.d.). Therefore, there is a vast cultural history in relation to land ownership and power. Even the idea that Adams was commissioned to take a mural photograph for the National Park Service, a federal agency company that manages all national parks in America, raises questions of who owns the land and has power over how it is represented. Thus, on one hand the cultural history and land ownership of the National Parks might be considered when looking at Adams' photographs or they could be considered in relation to aesthetics as they are thought of as sublime photographs, or both the history and aesthetics can be considered.



Figure 4: Monolith, the Face of Half Dome (Adams, 1927)

By discussing Adams's work, the ideas of taste and representation were introduced when the photographs were considered as sublime images. However, power was also considered whilst referring to the cultural context of the formation of National Parks and the concept of land ownership. This reflects how power can be considered in different senses. Landscape ownership can refer to power in a political systemic sense while taste and representation can be linked to the faculties of the mind that Kant discusses in his writing. In *The Continental Aesthetics Reader* (2011), Clive Cazeaux states: "Judgement for Kant, to clarify the term, is one of our cognitive powers, 'a mediating link between understanding and reason' (CJ 168)" (Cazeaux, 2011). According to Kant, the imagination works harmoniously with knowledge and understanding when forming a judgement of taste.

The reason for this being important for this thesis is because the landscape photographers that are explored in this thesis surrender their power, but the question arises as to what surrender of power means. The photographers' work in this thesis is being considered in relation to Zen as an alternative aesthetic or way of thinking about representative landscape photographers. Aesthetics are related to politics as they can be

associated with the politics of taste and representation. Politics can then be linked to power, as politics shows one's personal taste or judgement. This is because one's personal taste of judgement in relation to aesthetics can influence someone else's beliefs and thoughts. Thus, one's influence based on their personal set of ideas can have power over someone else's. Thus, all images can be understood in relation to a power dynamic. Landscape imagery could always be subject to taste and representation as humans will always have opinions and ideas about what they are viewing. In relation to power of judgement, taste stems from one's understanding which is created from both knowledge and imagination. However, in the introduction, this surrender of power was considered as being a method of embracing the unknown. The sublime is associated with the fear of the unknown and the faculties of the mind help one to cope with this fear, whereas Zen embraces the unknown as it encourages internal contemplation and meditation. This thesis can consider Kant's understanding of the faculties of the mind when defining surrender of power. Through the Zen lens, the photographers' work can be ambiguous as they do not provide the viewer with knowledge about several factors in their work (for example, location, scale, species of plant). However, through the emittance of knowledge in photographs, one's taste becomes more about imagination and contemplation rather than based on an understanding created by knowledge and imagination. Through a sublime experience one's understanding allows for them to realise their superiority over nature as one realises they can withstand the forces of nature's might (the dynamic sublime). However, through a Zen perspective, one has a contemplative attitude towards the landscape in an attempt to connect with nature. It is one's contemplative attitude. one's position to nature and the idea of embracing the unknown that allows for surrender of power to become a key departure from the Western notion of the sublime and a key stepping stone into the consideration of Zen in relation to the contemporary landscape photography in this thesis.

1.4. Zen

The previous sections in the chapter have considered how landscape photographs can be read through notions of the sublime but has also introduced ways in which they can begin to be considered through notions of Zen.

Zen's use in modern day conversations (even in Western conversation) often refers to one's mood and state of mind but its usage is casual in a similar way to how one would use another emotion to explain their mood. Yet, despite the casual usage of the term in modern day times, Zen has a long history. The etymology of the term Zen is discussed in Gregory P.A. Levine's book *Long Strange Journey: On Modern Zen, Zen Art, and Other Predicaments* (2017) for he writes: "'"Zen" is also, first, the Japanese pronunciation of the Chinese character 禅 (chan), itself shorthand for the Chinese transliteration of the Sanskrit term dhyāna, which refers generally to mental concentration of meditation (Ch.channa)" (Levine, 2017, p.7). Thus, it is important to state that when this thesis discusses existing research into Zen, the term Chan might often be used.

Zen is part of Zen Buddhism which is a combination of Taoist ideas and Indian Mahayana Buddhism. Mahayana Buddhism is often defined as a major historical movement in Buddhism. It is thought that it began in India around the beginning of the Common Era (Nagapriya, 2014). However, Mahayana Buddhism is now prevalent across multiple East Asian countries, such as China and Japan. Thus, Mahayana Buddhism is a group of Buddhist traditions, one of these traditions being Zen Buddhism. The other set of ideas that Zen Buddhism draws from is Taoism. Taoism, also referred to as Daoism, is an ancient Chinese philosophy and religion. Its origin is traced back to at least the 4th Century BCE and is thought to have been founded by Lao Tzu (also known as Laozi) (Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy, 2003). The Philosophy of Taoism is a tradition which looks at living in harmony with the Tao which translates into 'path' or 'way' (Nations Online, n.d.). Some of Taoism's practice is drawn from the philosophy of 'yin yang' and 'wu'. Yin yang is a dualist concept relating to a balance between opposites such as light and dark, hot and cold. Although complete opposites, they are all interlinked, and one cannot exist without the other. Everything is interconnected and thus, lives in harmony with one another. In Robin Wang's book Yinyang - The Way of Heaven and Earth in Chinese Thought and Culture (2012) Yin Yang is explained as follows: "When one compares something to yin or yang, this usually suggests a way of dealing with things through the balance or harmony between two elements" (Wang, 2012). Taoism, as it looks at living with harmony, allows one to understand that we need

one entity in order for an opposite one to exist. Therefore, Taoism allows one to understand that one needs all things in life in order to live in harmony. As mentioned, wu is also part of Taoist practice. Wu was previously mentioned as "nothingness" and "not being there" (Wenning, 2011). It is in this absence that one can imagine and map thoughts and ideas onto it. It is the nothingness which allows meaning to be interpreted. This links to Zen in this thesis as both the viewers and the photographers perhaps have an openness for a state of contemplation which allows thoughts and meaning to be created.

This thesis is considering Zen in relation to both Eastern and Western contemporary landscape photographers and is being written by a Western researcher. Thus, it is important to consider existing research of Zen in Western thought. A key writer who does this is D.T. Suzuki (1870-1966) who was a Japanese author who predominantly wrote about Zen Buddhism. He wrote about Zen in a particular way that spread interest to a Western audience. Richard M. Jaffe edited a book titled *Selected Works of D.T. Suzuki, Volume 1: Zen* (2015) which consisted of a handful of D.T. Suzuki's essays. In the introduction, Jaffe discusses Suzuki's ideas surrounding Zen, stating: "To understand Zen satori is needed. Without this experience no amount of talk is of any use in elucidating what Zen is" (Jaffe, 2015, p.53). Satori is a Buddhist term for enlightenment or awakening (Britannica, n.d). To put this into a simpler explanation, the BBC says:

Zen is something a person does. It's not a concept that can be described in words. Despite that, words on this site will help you get some idea of what Zen is about. But remember, Zen does not depend on words - it has to be experienced in order to 'understand'. (BBC, n.d.)

Thus, to understand Zen, one has to experience satori. This thesis can only touch on the history of Zen and as the researcher, I can state this is the beginning of my exploration into Zen as an alternative way of understanding a group of contemporary landscape photographers. I cannot state that I have experienced satori. However, that does not mean that this thesis cannot explore aspects of Zen in order to apply Zen to the contemporary photographers' process of making, final photographs and the process of viewing. In applying Suzuki's idea to the landscape photography in this thesis, experiences are important. When previously discussing Cooper's work it was mentioned that being in the physical landscape and the process of making the photographs are key ideas in exploring his work (as well as the works of the other selected contemporary photographers in this thesis). Therefore, it is true what Suzuki and the BBC say, experiences are needed. As discussed above, Zen does not depend on words, this can make Zen a challenging term to define. One person

might practice Zen differently to someone else. Thus, Zen's definition perhaps depends on one's own understanding and thoughts. This is similar to the concept discussed at the beginning of this chapter, where Figure 1, 2 & 3 were considered from different viewpoints depending on the cultural contexts in which they were viewed. Thus, Zen can be a personal and individual experience. Zen perhaps is more about looking inwards than it is about looking externally.

Reflecting on the idea of Zen being more about looking inwards, this thesis turns to the Zen Studies Society website which suggests that Zen is more about exploring one's inner self than it is about viewing the external self or world as they write: "It's both something we are - our true nature expressing itself moment by moment - and something we do - a disciplined practice through which we can realize the joy of being" (The Zen Studies Society, n.d.). Thus, in this thesis Zen is a process of exploring one's internal self and becoming aware of one's state of mind and what it means to be (the joy of being). The photographers in this thesis all have an embodied slowness in their process of making, this in itself is a deliberate way of working but when in the physical landscape it allows them to slow down, rid themselves of the distractions of the fast-paced world and be present in the moment.

In the book *Wherever You Go, There You Are: Mindfulness Meditation in Everyday Life* (2016) by Jon Kabat-Zinn he discusses Buddhist Mindfulness. During his discussion of Mindfulness, he states, "mindfulness means paying attention in a particular way: on purpose, in the present moment and nonjudgmentally. This kind of attention nurtures greater awareness, clarity and acceptance of presentmoment reality" (Kabat-Zinn, 2016). The act of being present in the moment is a key characteristic of Zen and can be considered in the discussion of the photographers' processes of making in this thesis. It can be suggested that the photographers' embodied slowness is what allows them to be present in the moment as they slow down to really be present and understand the physical landscape in which they are in. Being present in the moment can also be used to consider the embodied openness in the process of viewing the work. By being present in the moment cannot be forced upon the viewer but there can be techniques and strategies in the framing of the work that push the viewer to take a second look in order to consider and study the work in more detail. Therefore, the idea that in Zen mindfulness one is present in the moment (which allows for clarity and a greater awareness) is an important part of Zen to consider in relation to the photographers in this thesis.

Zen Buddhism as a religion differs from other religions, in the way that there is not a set belief system or set practices to adhere to. Rather it is a practice of being present in the moment and gaining clarity of the world. Reflecting on this idea of gaining clarity, this thesis again turns to D.T. Suzuki. In Chapter 3 of *Selected Works of D.T. Suzuki, Volume 1: Zen* (2015) Suzuki's essay titled *On Satori - The Revelation of a New Truth in Zen Buddhism* can be found. In this essay Suzuki states that "The essence of Zen Buddhism consists in acquiring a new viewpoint of looking at life and things generally" (Suzuki, 2015, p.15). Thus, Zen requires a new way of looking at everything in life. Buddhism discusses the idea of understanding suffering in order to let go of one's own suffering. To understand this suffering could be what Suzuki refers to when he discusses having a new viewpoint of looking at life. Thus, Zen can be an attempt to understand the world and what it means to exist in the world. It explores the idea that humans are beings in a vast world and an attempt to understand one's existence in the vast world is a key concept of Zen.

In the same vein as Suzuki's idea of Zen requiring a new viewpoint of looking at life, Steve Hagen in his book *Buddhism Plain and Simple (1997)* illustrates that Buddhism is a way of seeing:

The message is always to examine and see for yourself. When you see for yourself what is true - and that's really the only way you can genuinely know anything - then embrace it. Until then, just suspend judgement and criticism. The point of Buddhism is to just see. That's all (Hagen, 1997).

Although this thesis is using Zen as a way of thinking about contemporary landscape photography, it is also aware of the other aesthetics and ideas surrounding landscapes and landscape imagery. Therefore, Buddhism as a way of seeing, and a process of just seeing the world clearly, can be linked to Denis Cosgrove's research in *Social Formation and Symbolic Landscape* where he states that Landscape is a way of seeing: "Landscape is a way of seeing that has its own history that can be understood only as part of a wider history of economy and society" (Cosgrove, 1998, p14). Thus, he links this way of seeing to social formation and power. Although there are two different ways of seeing being outlined, it is important to suggest that the photographers in this thesis surrender their power. This surrender of power was discussed in the introduction as well as at the end of the previous section. The way in which these photographers might surrender their power is by embracing the unknown and rejecting the ideologies of a fast-paced world, allowing them to be rid of distractions and for them to be present in the moment. It is when they are present in the moment whilst in the physical landscape that they can be contemplative and reflective in their way of working and produce work that reflects on those processes. Therefore, the landscape as a way of seeing is not as a result of power as suggested by Cosgrove, but rather as a mindfulness Buddhist practice as suggested by Hagen.

Having outlined a brief history of Zen as well as having considered existing research into Zen, it is now important to consider Zen in relation to landscape imagery. Accordingly, this thesis now explores existing research into Zen art and considers how these ideas can be discussed in relation to the representative landscape photography in this thesis. Turning to Gregory P.A. Levine's book Long Strange Journey: On Modern Zen, Zen Art and Other Predicaments as an example of Zen in the discussion of Art, Levine states "Certain commentators refer to simplicity and directness, but they make no reference to chance, nothingness, or emptiness - Zen's postwar keywords par excellence" (Levine, 2017, p.28). Thus, discussion surrounding Zen art originally could have referred to simplicity and directness. For example, in Zen art and calligraphy a circle is often painted. This is called Ensō (See Figure 5). At first, when viewing this painting, the term "simplicity" and "directness" could be considered. The painting visually is a circle, sometimes complete and sometimes incomplete, which creates a visually simple image. Also, the circle consists of one or two brush strokes, meaning the painter has to be direct with his movements in order to create the work. The painting could be considered direct and simple. However, when one reads the painting more, there is what Levine states "chance, nothingness or emptiness" within the painting. Ensō paintings represent the circle of life for "The Enso itself is a universal symbol of wholeness and completion, and the cyclical nature of existence, as well as a visual manifestation of the Heart Sutra, 'Form is void and void is form.'" (Sweet, n.d.) Thus, there is an emptiness in the centre of the circle, which could be considered a void. In Buddhism this void is called Sunyata. Sunyata in Buddhism is "the voidness that constitutes ultimate reality" (Britannica, n.d.). The circle (enso) is more than simple and direct, it also has an emptiness which in relation to its cultural context, holds the meaning of life, and represents enlightenment as one understands what it means to be in the world. Referring back to the directness, the painter does indeed have to be direct, but there is also an element of contemplation as the painter has to be disciplined with their brush strokes as once the ink is on the rice paper it cannot be erased. This relates to Zen as one has to be contemplative with their actions which in this thesis, links to the photographers' contemplative embodied slowness in their process of making.



Figure 5: *Ensō* (Reirin, n.d.)

Considering Zen art in more detail, Levine goes on to discuss Laurence Binyon's ideas of Zen painting as Levine writes: "In Binyon's telling, a Zen painting not only expresses its maker's inner spiritual grasp of the outwardly pictorialized subject, it offers the viewer an opportunity to "summon an interiorized experience" '" (Levine, 2017, p.38). This refers back to the concept that Zen is more about looking inwards at oneself. In this thesis, this idea of looking inwards can be considered when exploring the photographer's process of making. The photographers in this thesis all have an embodied slowness in which the photographer can be present with their internal self as well as in the physical landscape. This links to the idea of being present in the moment. When the photographer has an embodied slowness as part of their process of making, it allows them to be more present with their surroundings as they slow down, rid themselves of distractions of the fast-paced world and really contemplate the photographs they take. The photograph itself reflects on being present in the moment. A photograph captures a single moment and freezes it in time. Thus, the photograph is an embodiment of this being present in the moment, as the camera allows for that single moment to be captured. Referring back to Levine's writing on Binyon's idea, the viewers' process of looking can be discussed. In this thesis, the viewers and the way the work is presented to the viewer is discussed as an embodied openness of looking. The way in which the work is framed for the viewer can alter the "interiorised experience" that the viewer has. Thus, the framing of the work can aid the meaning of the photographs and can be a further extension of the photographers' process of making.

Having considered the history of Zen and Zen art, characteristics of Zen can be considered to explore the contemporary landscape photography in this thesis in more detail. One of these characteristics is Kabat-Zinn's idea of Zen Mindfulness as being present in the moment. This being present in the moment is a key concept in the discussion of both the photographers' embodied slowness in their process of making, and

the viewers' embodied openness in their process of viewing. Being present in the moment can be achieved or semi-achieved through a variety of different processes. For example, in this thesis, the act of walking will be considered as a process of slowing down. Other processes that will be considered are the act of waiting, the processing of the photographs and the use of certain equipment, which can all slow the photographer down, and allows for them to have a personal and individual experience that could be linked with being present in the moment. Although in Kabat-Zinn's book this idea of being present in the moment is linked to clarity and a greater awareness, the selected photographs withhold concrete information from the viewer so could be seen as obscuring clarity. Therefore, the act of being present in the moment could perhaps be associated with an act of contemplation which is the next characteristic of Zen that will be discussed in this thesis. It is through being present in the moment that one's thoughts and feelings can be really acknowledged. Thus, through a contemplative process, Zen becomes an internal embodied experience which allows for clarity and awareness to be achieved. For example, the viewer might imagine the information being withheld from them and thus clarity and awareness comes from their internal contemplation and imagination. The final characteristic of Zen that will be used in this thesis is openness. Openness is the idea that one can open themselves up to really see the world and their inner self. Openness links both the being present in the moment and the act of contemplation together. It is openness that allows for these other two characteristics to occur. Openness can be considered in the viewing process of the work, as the photographers frame the work in a way that lacks concrete information and so the work can be open to interpretation and contemplation from the viewer. Therefore, the viewers can be open in the process of viewing, to imagine and create meaning within the pictorial world that they are in.

Having considered the key aspects of Zen in this chapter, the chapter that follows moves on to consider these Zen ideas in relation to the photographers' process of making. The ideas of being present in the moment, internal contemplation and openness will be used to explore the embodied slowness of the photographers' process of making whilst they are in the physical landscape as well as in their processes following their being in the landscape.

Chapter 2: Embodied Slowness in Making

In the previous chapter, it was stated that the photographers' process of making is a key aspect of understanding their work. One of the common strategies that the photographers share is an embodied slowness in their process of making which can be discussed by considering Zen's concept of being present in the moment. The world is now fast-paced and in relation to photography, photographs are created daily and consumed daily. Technology and social media have allowed for more people to take photographs and see photographs. The photographers in this thesis reject the ideologies of a fast-paced world and deliberately embrace an embodied slowness in their process of making. This is a deliberate way of working that links to their surrender of power, as they reject the power that social media and technology have had in the fast pace consumption of imagery. They spend time in the physical landscape as well as time with each photographic series that they create. The way in which they embrace an embodied slowness is achieved in a variety of methods, for example, walking, waiting, the use of equipment and the processing of the work, all of which are discussed in this chapter.

2.1 Walking

"This book could not have been written by sitting still. The relationship between paths, walking and the imagination is its subject, and much of its thinking was therefore done - was only possible - while on foot" (Robert Macfarlane, 2012)

This quote by Macfarlane could be applied to the photographers' processes of making as their work cannot be created by sitting still. The actual photograph itself will often need to be made whilst being stationary. However, the process these photographers go on before taking a photograph is one in which walking in the landscape can aid their connection with the natural world. Therefore, this section considers the process of walking and what walking achieves when it is part of the photographers' process.

There are multiple reasons as to why one might walk. For example, it could be for exercise, it could be to partake in a task (for example, to travel to the supermarket) or it could be as a benefit to one's mental state of mind. In this thesis, the act of walking is discussed in relation to Zen's being present in the moment and the act of looking inwards. This being present in the moment can allow one to become aware of their own

internal landscape as well as connecting with the physical landscape in which one is walking. The particular act of walking that is discussed in this thesis can be a method used by the photographers to rid themselves of the distractions of the fast-paced world in order for them to be present in the moment whilst they are in the physical landscape. In order to discuss the concept of walking, this thesis turns to the writing of Rebecca Solnit, Dale S. Wright, Thomas A Clark and John Ruskin.

One of the aspects of Zen that was discussed in Chapter 1, was that Zen is more concerned with looking inwards than it is about looking outwards. Rebecca Solnit's book *Wanderlust* is a good illustration of acknowledging a relationship between the mind and the physical act of walking. For example, she states, "walking, ideally, is a state in which the mind, the body, and the world are aligned, as though they were three characters finally in conversation together, three notes suddenly making a chord" (Solnit, 2001, p.5). Accordingly, when walking in the natural world, the body is moving, the mind is thinking and the landscape is the canvas onto which thoughts and imaginations can be mapped. Thus, the body, mind and the world all work in harmony with one another and walking can be the foundation for this harmony to occur. This harmony can be linked to Taoism and Zen as Taoism is a tradition which looks at living in harmony with the Tao (the way). Through concepts such as yin yang, one understands that we need all entities in life in order to live in harmony. Solnit also says that "The rhythm of walking generates a kind of rhythm of thinking and the passage through a landscape echoes or stimulates the passage through a series of thoughts" (Solnit, 2001). Thus, the process of walking allows one to look inwards and think freely. As one might traverse the landscape, they might be traversing their thoughts simultaneously. Solnit also writes: "This creates an odd consonance between internal and external passage, one that suggests that the mind is also a landscape of sorts and that walking is one way to traverse it" (Solnit, 2001, p.6). Wanderlust highlights this idea that walking is not just a physical movement through the landscape but also a movement through one's mind. Thus, walking allows for the photographers to embrace their internal contemplation which is key to their process of making.

Rebecca Solnit's ideas on walking has some similarities to kinhin. Kinhin is a form of meditation which is performed by walking. Dale S. Wright in his book *Zen Ritual - Studies of Zen Buddhist Theory in Practice* discusses the idea of kinhin for he states:

Zen Buddhism has come to be so identified with seated meditation (*zazen*) that it is easy to overlook the fact that zazen is but one of the many ritual activities that form the core of traditional Zen monastic life. This article concerns one such ritual that has become a mark of modern Japanese Sōtō Zen. the slow walking (*kinhin*) that is done between periods of seated meditation (Wright, 2008, p.223).

Kinhin is a walking meditation in which one coordinates walking with breathing. One who is meditating by walking (kinhin) will take one breath followed by a step (or sometimes half a step) which is a slow and quiet process. It removes the distractions of the exterior world as one focuses on the meditative task at hand. Considering this in relation to Solnit's ideas around walking, it is in kinhin that the body and mind can work in harmony within the space they are in. It also removes all other distractions which allows one to be present in the moment which can allow one to become aware of their being in the world. Kinhin is a deliberate act of slowing down, which relates to the photographers in this thesis. It can be stated that the photographers choose a deliberate way of working that has an embodied slowness as part of the process which links to the choice of moving slowly when performing kinhin.

The slow pace of walking can influence one to look and discover more whilst in the physical landscape. It has already been considered that the body and mind work in harmony when one walks. Thus, when one walks through the landscape at a slower pace there is more time for both looking and thinking. The poem *In Praise of Walking* by Thomas A Clark is a good example of discussing the idea of discovering more by walking. In Thomas A Clark's poem *In Praise of Walking* he writes:

There are things we will never see, unless we walk to them.

Walking is a mobile form of waiting.

What I take with me, what I leave behind, are of less importance than what I discover along the way (Clark, 1988).

Considering the first line in the quotation taken from Clark's poem, it is possible that it could refer to the idea that not all places are accessible by other modes of transport, so walking is required to reach them. However, it could also be interpreted that walking, as a slower process, allows for more features of the landscape to

become noticeable. Due to the slower pace, we have more time to explore the places we walk through. Similar to Clark's in *In Praise of Walking*, writer John Ruskin wrote:

No changing of place at a hundred miles an hour, nor making of stuffs a thousand yards a minute, will make us one whit stronger, happier, or wiser. There was always more in the world than men could see, walked they ever so slowly; they will see it no better for going fast" (Ruskin, 1843).

In the same vein as Clark, Ruskin discusses how walking allows one to slow down, and in the process of slowing down one can become more aware of their surroundings. It is in this slower process that more can become visible to the person walking and therefore, more can be discovered.

Having discussed ideas surrounding walking, this thesis considers walking as part of the photographers' process. Firstly, Awoiska van der Molen will be discussed. Van der Molen is a Dutch photographer who predominantly photographs the landscape in black and white. Van der Molen will often spend weeks roaming the landscape in solitude, before she takes a photograph. In her reasoning for this being a key part of her process she states, "during this time I get connected with the environment and I start to see and feel more and more around me" (Van der Molen, 2015). Another reason she states is "to allow nature to imprint its specific emotional qualities on me" (Van der Molen, n.d.). Both of these quotes can suggest that Van der Molen has some intention of connecting with nature when she goes into the physical landscape. It is through this connection and slow process of being in the physical landscape, that Van der Molen can discover more, feel more and contemplate more before she takes a photograph. This can be linked to Zen's being present in the moment. When Van der Molen spends time walking in the landscape, she starts to feel more and see more around her which could be associated with the greater awareness and clarity that Kabat-Zinn associated with this present in the moment concept. Clarity is a difficult concept to explain. For example, what does it mean and how do you know when clarity has been reached? One cannot state for certain how each person reaches clarity or what clarity feels like for each individual. However, in this thesis, clarity is part of Zen that means one has made both internal and external discoveries by being present in the moment, and by having a contemplative slow process. It is through making these discoveries that one has an awareness of their being in the landscape and a connection with nature can be felt. On one hand, clarity could be considered as gaining knowledge of a situation and as previously mentioned, knowledge is associated with power.

However, Zen lets go of the idea of knowing in a surrender of power. Thus, clarity in this thesis is not about gaining knowledge of the photographer's experience. It is an individual clarity that results in an awareness of oneself.

There is also an element of Zen's idea of openness in Van der Molen's process of making. She spends time walking in the landscape to allow nature to imprint specific qualities on her. This can be linked to openness in her process of making as she has a desire for nature to provide her with these emotional qualities. It was stated in the previous chapter that openness is the idea that one can open themselves up to really see the world and their inner self. This concept of openness links to the harmony between body, mind and place that Solnit discusses and also the meditative state of kinhin as through meditating in this particular way, one opens themselves up for a state of awareness. It is through these concepts of being present in the moment and openness that one could suggest a sense of clarity can be reached. Thus, when Van der Molen feels ready to take her photograph, it might be because through connecting with nature and allowing it to imprint certain qualities on her that she has gained a sense of clarity.

2.2. Waiting

Referring back to Clark's poem, the second line taken from the quote says, "walking is a mobile form of waiting" (Clark, 1988). This again can be linked to the process of slowing down. When waiting, one is perhaps expectant of an event occurring. For example, one of the definitions of the term *waiting* is "remain in readiness for a purpose" (Oxford Language, n.d.). Therefore, waiting can mean that one is expectant of an event occurring when in the landscape. Linking this idea of waiting to this thesis, it can be suggested that the photographers whose work is studied, all have the intention of connecting with nature when they go into landscape. Thus, the purpose they are waiting for could be this connection to be felt and this connection can be achieved by waiting or walking. However, if using Clark's quote as a basis for this discussion, it can be said that the two work in harmony with one another. He pairs walking with waiting, one is stationary, the other is not. Linking this to a photographer's process, Boomoon says, "when I'm in the field, the image itself decides what moment I am waiting for. Waiting is part of the encounter" (Boomoon, n.d.). Boomoon as part of his process might walk to the location in which he photographs, yet walking is not the main part of his process, rather it is waiting. Boomoon states that the image decides the moment he is waiting for. Thus, it is through waiting in the physical landscape that Boomoon has time to be present in the landscape with a level
of openness. It is through these ideas that Boomoon can make discoveries both internally and externally which allows for him to have this greater awareness that Kabat-Zinn discusses as part of Zen Buddhist Mindfulness. Thus, it is not necessarily the image deciding for him when the moment is right. Rather, the waiting time allows for clarity to occur and when this clarity is reached that is when the moment feels right. Thus, waiting is how Boomoon reaches this point of clarity, whereas, Van der Molen, walks through the landscape for weeks. Therefore, one photographer walks as part of her process whereas the other photographer waits as part of his process. Although waiting and walking have differences, they both represent a method which encourages the photographer's embodied slowness.

Boomoon also states that "the image really is the culminating point in my complex experience of relationships with the world before me" (Boomoon, n.d.). Therefore, when Boomoon takes a photograph in the physical landscape it is reflecting on his relationship with nature. The reason for it being a complex experience is because it is not just a reflection of his bodily experience in the landscape but rather, it is also a mental experience. Clark creates a link between walking and waiting and by exploring walking, it can be stated that waiting can also be a link between the body, the mind and the world. Thus, through waiting, Boomoon has an internal relationship with both himself and the landscape, and the image taken is a reflection of that relationship.

Boomoon is not the only photographer in this thesis who waits as part of their process. Jungjin Lee also waits as part of her photographic process of making. This is illustrated in an article for the PKM Gallery which states: "her photographs, which involve a process of waiting and gazing until the object reveals its true nature, are meditative, picturesque, and suggestive of eternity that transcends the notions of time" (PKM Gallery, n.d.). Both the waiting and gazing methods, which are part of Lee's process, become meditative, which is suggestive of Zen beliefs as Zen's translation refers to mental concentration and meditation (Levine, 2017). The concept of being present in the moment can also be linked to Lee's process as the quote says, "suggestive of eternity" (PKM Gallery, n.d.). Nature and its fundamental elements are constantly changing whether it is due to natural processes such as erosion or the changing of seasons or whether it is down to human intervention altering the landscape. When Lee photographs these natural elements, the photograph freezes them in time, suggesting the elements' eternal existence. This links to being present in the moment because when waiting in the landscape, Lee can be present in the moment, and when she takes a photograph that moment is captured.

36

Similar to Jungjin Lee, Thomas Joshua Cooper also gazes as part of his process. In his PhD Cooper writes, "gazing leads to visual clarity and understanding. Seeing is the conscious activity that may result from gazing. Gazing and seeing are physiologically and psychologically linked. They are both products of visual consciousness. Gazing instigates seeing" (Cooper, 2017). The dictionary definition of *gaze* is to "look steadily and intently, especially in admiration, surprise or thought" (Oxford Languages, n.d.). Therefore, when one gazes they are looking slowly whilst in thought. There is this link between body and mind that is seen in the process of walking. When both Cooper and Lee state that they gaze as part of their process of making, it can be stated that they have a considered way of looking at the landscape they are in. Cooper states that seeing is a result of gazing. This shows that gazing is a slow process of looking that allows one to see the world clearly. This again links to clarity which is a result of being present in the moment. Thus, walking, waiting and gazing all can be slow processes that the photographers adopt in order to have a contemplative and internal relationship with the landscape. It is through this relationship that one can be present in the moment as they photograph.

2.3. Equipment

This chapter has so far demonstrated that walking, waiting and gazing can be part of the photographers' embodied slowness. It is now necessary to discuss how the photography equipment can affect the process of making and how that can also lead to an embodied slowness. There are different ways in which the camera can be an accessory for reflecting the photographers' experience. For example, Susan Sontag says, "photographs really are experience captured, and the camera is the ideal arm of consciousness in its acquisitive mood" (Sontag, 2005). It is important to acknowledge that a photograph cannot be a direct representation of an experience. This is because the photograph is not able to capture other aspects of physically being in the landscape and the camera cannot capture other senses that are experienced in the landscape. For example, the camera cannot capture the smell of the sea or the feeling of leaves under one's feet. Therefore, it can be argued that a photograph reflects on an experience rather than capturing it. The photographer makes multiple conscious decisions when taking a photograph. For example, how to frame the photograph, where to set the camera up and what settings the camera should be on. Therefore, the process of being in the landscape might be an unconscious process of looking inwards and discovering one's inner self, but the camera becomes a conscious process of reflecting on that internal experience. This harmony between

an unconscious and conscious process allows for the photographer to engage with their thoughts and feelings when they decide to take a photograph. Therefore, the camera itself is what allows one's inner self to be translated into pictorial form.

The majority of the photographers in this thesis use either large or medium format film cameras. These cameras can be cumbersome which in itself can slow someone down when they are walking through the landscape. These cameras can also take longer to set up than a digital camera does. This time-consuming process really allows the photographer to engage with the image they intend to create, and allows them to consider the shot in more detail. Similar to the walking and waiting process, the slower process allows for more discoveries to be made both internally and externally. Thus, the slow process of walking and the time spent in the landscape is reflected in the slow process of the photographers' methods due to the cameras they use.

When working with film there is a certain amount of consideration that goes into each shot. This is because when shooting on film, one is limited to a certain amount of exposures per roll of film (for example 36 exposures for 35mm film or 10 exposures on 6x7 120mm film). Unlike digital photography which can allow for thousands of photographs to be taken on each SD card, film is more limited. In order to not waste an exposure on film, the photographer considers each image carefully, pre-visualising it, before taking the photograph. The photographer will not be able to see the final images until they are developed so this almost requires the photographer to be considered but also to be prepared to work with any mistakes. For example, referring back to Chinese landscape painting Wai-yu Leung writes:

Brushstrokes cannot be erased or corrected once put on rice paper. It somehow impels people to be exceptionally mindful and even surrender to the "mistake" and to work with the "unexpected" brushstroke. Therefore, every stroke embodies the awareness and high energy of the painter, permeating the landscape with life (chi). (Leung, 2021, p.211)

The same could be said about film photography. The photograph cannot be erased once taken. Technically they can be manipulated by working on the negatives and scans of the images, but the photographer must remain aware of the possibility of error. Mistakes can still be made and these mistakes might even make for an interesting photograph. Therefore, film, like brushstrokes, can be subject to mistakes and require a level of awareness. However, that is not to say that shooting on digital does not require a level of consideration. One

can still be considered and aware when shooting on a digital camera. One can still work slowly and limit themselves with how many photographs they take but this limitation is due to the photographer restricting themselves rather than the equipment restricting them. Thus, the type of camera one uses can play a role in a photographer's process and how one experiences the landscape.

All of the photographers could be considered in relation to the use of equipment in relation to an embodied slowness. However, Janelle Lynch is a good example of discussing her use of camera. In an interview with Reneta Toney for Burchfield Penney Art Center, Lynch states, "I use an 8-x-10 inch camera, so also spend a lot of time underneath the focusing cloth when I'm ready to compose an image" (Lynch, 2013). Not only does the camera encourage a slow process of making, it also provides a personal experience of using it. When under the focusing cloth, Lynch can be alone in her thoughts. It is the time spent under the focusing cloth that adds to an experience of looking inwards. The dark cloth removes any distractions from the outside world so Lynch can be focused and able to contemplate both her thoughts as well as the photograph she is about to take. The dark cloth acts as a canvas on which her thoughts can be reflected. It is through these thoughts that she can imagine and consider how the photograph will look. Later on in the interview she says that "because I work in secluded places, a sense of security is critical for my concentration" (Lynch, 2013). When Lynch is under the focusing cloth, she feels safe. This allows for her to concentrate on her work rather than being distracted by any concerns or fear of being alone in a secluded place. This requirement to feel safe is another factor to be taken into consideration before the image can be captured, again slowing the process down.

2.4. Working in Solitude

In Chapter 1, Zen was discussed as being hard to define as it can be a personal practice based on one's own understanding, experiences and thoughts. Zen is a meditative experience that is about looking inwards in order to understand what it means to be in the world. This introduces the next aspect of the photographers' process.

Most of the photographers in this thesis work in solitude when they are in the landscape. It has already been mentioned that Awoiska van der Molen walks in the landscape whilst being alone in solitude. However, Van der Molen also furthers this idea when she processes her work. She often develops and prints her work

39

by herself. Thus, the processing of her work is an extension of her personal process of being in solitude. When developing film and printing film in a dark room, it is a slow and repetitive chemical process. Each time the print or film is worked on, slight adjustments will be made. For example, alterations will be made to how light or how contrast the photograph is until the photograph is how the photographer wants it to look. Thus, the processing of the work can also be associated with an embodied slowness which is key to the photographers' process of making. While Van der Molen develops her work alone, she can further reflect on her individual experience that she had whilst in the physical landscape. It is when she is in the dark room, working on each photograph, that more internal reflections and thoughts can be engaged with. Working on each image will require a level of focus and contemplation as she considers how each photograph should look. Because Zen is about looking inwards, it means that it is unique to each person. Thus, when considering Zen in relation to the photographers' work, their photographs are an independent creation that are created for the viewer to later experience. The photographers create the work with the knowledge that it will be viewed by other people, thus the photograph is not personal on a sense of it being solely for the photographers' viewing. Rather, the work is personal in the sense it is a reflection of an individual experience which later encourages the viewer to consider their own thoughts and interpretations when they are viewing it.

Although working in solitude can be a physical solitude, it can also be a mental solitude that occurs when the photographer looks inwards at oneself. A good example of a photographer reflecting their inner self is Minny Lee. Minny Lee is a multimedia artist from South Korea who works with photography, video, audio, poetry and installations. In her biography on her website she states that "in Far Eastern traditions, one takes a humble journey to discover the world and eventually oneself" (Lee, n.d.). She then states that her practice runs alongside this idea. In this thesis, this way of working can be discussed from a Zen perspective as Zen is an understanding of the world and one's existence in it through a process of looking inwards. In discussing her work, Lee mentions, "I constantly revisit personal memories and history through my photography, reflecting on my inner self" (Lee, n.d.). Thus, in looking into her personal memories and history whilst she is in the physical landscape, she is reflecting on her inner self and previous experiences. Simon Schama in his book *Landscape and Memory* writes:

For although we are accustomed to separate nature and human perception into two realms, they are in fact, indivisible. Before it can ever repose for the sense, landscape is the work of the mind. Its scenery is built up as much from strata of memory as from layers of rock (Schama, 2004, p.6).

Lee traverses the landscape in order to explore her personal memories. If landscapes are made up of history and memories, then the physical landscape is the perfect tool to aid Lee's discovery of her own memories. This might explain why she photographs the landscape when she explores her childhood. It is her inner self and her personal experiences that are then reflected in her art for the viewer to later experience. Lee's work is very personal to her and it is a reflection of a personal solitude in her own thoughts.

This chapter has studied the photographers' methods in their process of making. These methods are walking, waiting, gazing, their use of equipment and the idea of working in solitude. These five different methods have all been considered in relation to the photographers' embodied slowness that they embrace in their process of making. It is whilst embracing an embodied slowness that the photographers can look inwards in a state of contemplation and this allows for them to be present in the moment whilst in the physical landscape. Having considered the process of making in this chapter, the following chapter will discuss the subject matter of the final photographs.

Chapter 3 - Fundamental Elements

In the previous chapter, the photographers' embodied slowness was discussed. It is in this chapter that the visual aspects of the photographs will be discussed using a Zen way of thinking. The question arises as to how does Zen look visually? Zen is not necessarily pictorial in its essence. Thus, in considering Zen in relation to the photographs in this thesis, ideas are drawn from Zen and discussed alongside ideas surrounding fundamental elements, light and blur. Zen is not considered pictorially, but it can be applied to photography by exploring ideas surrounding the subject matter.

The predominant subject matter of fundamental elements is one of the key characteristics of the selected group of contemporary landscape photographers' work in this thesis. The chapter will begin by exploring fundamental elements and how they are photographed by selected photographers. It will then explore possible visual strategies that are used to reflect on how the photographers look at the fundamental elements. These visual strategies are: the use of light, blur and the photographers framing of the physical landscape.

3.1. Fundamental Elements

Before considering how the landscape photographers in this thesis photograph fundamental elements, it is important to discuss what fundamental elements are. Fundamental elements (also often referred to as classical elements or primary elements) were elemental terms proposed to explain the complexities of nature and all matter. The fundamental elements can vary depending on nationality or set of beliefs. For example, in both Western thought and Buddhist thought there are four main fundamental elements: earth, air, fire and water. In Buddhist thinking these fundamental elements are referred to as Mahābhūta (ChemEurope, n.d.). However, there are also countries which have more than four elements in their way of thinking. For example, in Chinese thinking there are five main fundamental elements: wood, fire, earth, metal and water (Simpkins and Simpkins, 1999). Thus, the actual fundamental elements can vary depending on the cultural context in which they are used.

Since this thesis uses Zen as a means of thinking about landscape photography, it is important to consider how the fundamental elements are used in Buddhist thinking. In *A Companion to Buddhist Philosophy* (2013), Steven Emmanuel states that "to aid the understanding of *dukkha*, Buddhism gives details of each of

the five factors in its analysis of personality" (Emmanuel, 2013, p.33). These five factors are the five aggregates: rūpa (form), vedanta (sensations), saññā (perceptions of sense objects), the sankhāras (mental formations) and viññāna (consciousness) (Britannica, n.d.). Rūpa, the first of the five aggregates, is thought to be made up of the four primary elements previously listed: earth, air, fire, and water. Rūpa, which relates to form, considers that all matter is made up of these fundamental elements. The five aggregates are the basis for understanding dukkha (suffering) and thus, given that the primary elements are key to rūpa, the primary elements are key to understanding one's suffering. In Buddhist thinking, the fundamental elements represent the foundation for understanding suffering (dukkha) and the act of freeing oneself from suffering.

Although fundamental elements can vary depending on one's nationality or beliefs, each photographer discussed in this thesis focuses primarily on a fundamental element when they photograph the landscape. Although one cannot state what viewpoint these photographers consider these elements from, one can explore how they photograph the elements.

3.2. Water

Firstly, this thesis considers the fundamental element of water. When discussing a river, Chinese philosopher, Confucius, said that "It flows on like this—does it not?—never ceasing, day or night" (Confucius, Slingerland, 2003). The constant flow of water is representative of eternity as it is forever moving. This is also reflected on the Nations Online website which states "water has the capacity to flow, infinitely yielding yet infinitely powerful, silent and still, awaiting, flexible, ever changing, a stored potential and often dangerous (flood's devastation) with the capacity also to nourish and cleanse" (nationsonline.org, n.d.). Thus, water in Chinese thinking can be considered as a symbol of eternity but it also has the power to cleanse. This links to the symbolism of water in Buddhist thinking. In a research article titled *Water - its significance in science, in nature and culture, in world religions and in the universe* by Peter Brüesch, it states:

in Buddhism, water symbolizes life, the purest form of food, and water is the particular element which in nature carries everything together...Water symbolizes purity, clarity and calmness, and reminds us to cleanse our minds and attain the state of purity (Brüesch, 2011, p.302).

In Buddhist thinking, water is found in all forms in nature, for example, it aids the growth of trees, the shaping of rock formations and a life source for animals and humans. The symbolism of water in Buddhism also represents purity and the ability to cleanse. This links to Zen which is about reaching a state of clarity and understanding of what it means to be in the world in order to free oneself of suffering. Considering this symbolism of water in relation to the photography in this thesis, Boomoon's work can be discussed.

Boomoon is a photographer from South Korea. He previously worked in black and white, photographing urban environments and the people within them. However, he now often works in colour and photographs the landscape, focusing predominantly on a fundamental element in each of his series. This change in style and subject matter is acknowledged in his biography on his website: "By the 1980s, he began working on landscape and developed his thoughts landscape as a mean of self-relexion [sic]" (Boomoon, n.d.). Thus, his elemental photographs are a means to reflect on his inner self. Elemental photography is not a commonly used term but it is a term used in this thesis to discuss photographs that predominantly focus on fundamental elements. Boomoon's self-reflection can be linked to a Zen way of thinking. This self-reflection can be linked to Chinese landscape painting. When Chinese landscape painters make Shan shui paintings, they do not always seek to portray a direct observation of what was seen in the landscape, rather they often seek to portray what was felt or thought whilst in the landscape. Shanshui paintings first began to be developed in the 5th Century and refers to a style of Chinese painting which uses brush and ink to depict the landscape. The term Shanshui translates to mountain-water-picture. Hence, mountains and rivers are often prominent natural features in these paintings. This concept of painting internal thoughts rather than visual observations is discussed on the New World Encyclopedia website which states "When Chinese painters work on shan shui painting, they do not try to present an image of what they have seen in nature, but what they have thought about nature" (New World Encyclopedia, n.d.). Thus, when Boomoon photographs the landscape as a means of self-reflection, there are strong similarities between his work and the characteristics of Chinese landscape painting and Zen.

Boomoon often photographs the landscape where one fundamental element is the dominant subject matter. For example, in his series titled *Falling Water*, he photographs a waterfall in a typology style. The work is abstract in terms of form and shapes. Despite its abstract appearance, there is an element of knowing in his work as one is still aware that they are viewing water. Heraclitus, a Greek philosopher, once said that, "no man ever steps in the same river twice, for it's not the same river and he's not the same man" (Wang, 2019). This can link to Boomoon's typology of photographs (Figure 8). Water is unpredictable in the way that it falls and Boomoon's typology of photographs reflect that. Although the photographs are of the same subject, each image is different due to the movement of water. If no man can step into the same river twice, then no man can photograph the same river (or waterfall) twice and Boomoon's typology of the waterfall proves that. The water falls at an immense speed and it is only due to the camera's ability to freeze this falling water in one single moment that the viewer is able to see the smaller details that form this vast amount of water. It was previously mentioned that in Buddhist thinking, water symbolises clarity, purity and calmness. When considering this alongside Boomoon's photographs, it can be associated with his landscape photographs being a means of self-reflection. This connection can be made because Boomoon photographs water (which in Buddhist thought is a symbol of clarity) as a means of self-reflection. It is is through this self-reflection that Boomoon can gain a sense of clarity about his internal self. Therefore, water becomes the perfect subject matter for Boomoon to photograph as he aims to reflect on his inner self.



Figure 6 & 7: Falling Water #5580 and #8350 (Boomoon, n.d.)



Figure 8: Falling Water Screenshot (Boomoon, n.d.)

Boomoon is not the only photographer in this thesis who predominantly photographs water.

Thomas Joshua Cooper in his project, *The Worlds Edge - the Atlantic Basin Project - An Atlas of Emptiness and Extremity,* travelled round the edges of the Atlantic basin, taking a photograph at each mapped out point such as 'Furthest West'. He often only took a single photograph in each location which visually maps out his journey for for the viewer.

The Atlantic Ocean that Cooper photographs has a historical context as it is known as the divide between the Old World (Europe, Africa and Asia) and the New World (The Americas). These terms were coined in the Age of Discovery, which was a period beginning in the 15th Century, in which European ships travelled around the world in order to find new trading routes. It is believed that the explorer, Amerigo Vespucci, during his explorations (of what we now know as the Americas), came to realise that it was not in fact the same land as Asia but was a completely different continent entirely. Vespucci was the first person to use the term "New World" in a letter to his friend Lorenzo Pietro Francesco Di Medici in 1503. In this letter he said, "it is lawful to call it a new world, because none of these countries were known to our ancestors, and to all who hear about them they will be entirely new" (Markham, 2010, p.42). It is important to say that there were already settlers in the "New World" before. Hence, the Atlantic Ocean became the border between the Old World and New World and Cooper photographs this divide between the two worlds. During Cooper's photographic journeys he explores the Atlantic Basin like many explorers did when discovering the New World and so this historical context could be considered when discussing Cooper's project.



Figure 9: The Swelling of the Sea | Furthest West - The Atlantic Ocean (Cooper, 1990-2001)

However, Cooper's photographs are ambiguous as they do not tell the viewer anything about the place in which the photograph was taken. This historical context is not visually implied in his photographs, however can be inferred based on one's personal knowledge of the context surrounding the Atlantic Ocean. When discussing Zen in relation to the photography in this thesis it was suggested that Zen is a surrender of power as one lets go of the idea of knowing. It can be suggested that when Cooper creates these ambiguous photographs he rejects the power that this historical knowledge has on the meaning of the Atlantic Ocean and encourages the viewers to generate their own meaning in the otherwise ambiguous photographs. The ambiguity in his photographs does not provide any information about the location, so the viewers' interpretations are not influenced by their existing knowledge of the places. Ben Tufnell writes, "Cooper photographs are concrete images of time and place, they are intensely allusive and suggestive, imbricated with memories - both his and of history - and layers of possible meaning" (Tufnell, 2009). The way in which Cooper photographs the landscape encourages the viewer to ask more questions than the work answers. Ben Tufnell does hint at history of the place in his writing. Although Cooper's photographs do not directly visually refer to this history, the Atlantic Ocean as a subject will always be laced with this historical context. Thus, when it is photographed, its history will always be there.



Figure 10: First Light—The South Indian Ocean, the Cape of Good Hope (Cooper, n.d.)

In each location, Cooper often photographs the swirling ocean and rarely includes land in his photograph (as seen in Figure 9). As the swirling ocean fills the frame it creates a boundless image which removes visual narrative of the location as one does not know where the photograph was taken. Occasionally to compensate for this otherwise boundless image, Cooper will include a small section of land in the bottom of the frame which acts as an object on which the viewer can root themselves to the place (Figure 10). His photographs of

the swirling ocean are taken in black and white. Black and white photography is an abstraction of reality as one does not view the world in black and white. This abstraction along with the blurred sea, produces a photograph which is visually ambiguous but consequently allows for one's imagination to be stimulated. Cooper's work is more about the unseen than the seen (Tufnell, 2009). It can also be suggested that it is more about the imaginative rather than reality. This is because the ambiguous photograph of the swirling ocean encourages the viewer's internal contemplation in order for them to interpret the photograph.

<u>3.3. Earth</u>

The fundamental element 'Earth' often refers to soil and rocks but in some cases refers to flora which grows from the earth. Plants are not always considered as Earth as they are made up of other elements too. However, the photographers' subject matter of plants will be discussed in this section as they can be considered following the discussion of water because in Buddhist thinking, water is the key element found in all forms in nature. Plants hold water but grow from the earth.



Figure 11: Family Portraits (Lynch, 2017)

Firstly, in the discussion of earth, this thesis explores the work of Janelle Lynch. Lynch is an American photographer who has previously photographed portraits and urban environments. However, even in these photographs that portray human life, there was often plants present. For example, in Figure 11 she uses flora

as a backdrop for her portrait. However, in her photographs of a more 'natural' landscape, flora becomes her main visual subject matter. The term natural landscape is used loosely as it can be a challenging term to use because most landscapes now have some trace of human intervention. Also, her photographs could be taken in a garden or park which are not considered natural landscapes.



Figure 12 & 13: Another Way of Looking at Love (Lynch, 2015-2018)

In Lynch's photographic series titled *Another Way of Looking at Love* (2015-2018), ideas of the interconnectedness of nature are explored. This is illustrated in the description of the series as it is stated that the work "explored the interconnectedness of all life forms and supports a renewal of human relationships to each other, and to the natural and spiritual worlds" (Lynch, n.d.). This interconnectedness of all life forms echoes the philosophy of Taoism and Zen. Taoism and Zen are both similar in the way they discuss harmony and one's existence in the world. Also, it has previously been mentioned that Zen Buddhism draws from Taoist ideas as well as ideas of Mahayana Buddhism. Taoism discusses ideas surrounding the true essence of nature, whereas, Zen can be considered as an individual discovery through a set of meditative practices. Thus, Zen can be considered in relation to *Another Way of Looking at Love* as the project considers human relationships with both the natural and spiritual world, and this can be done by looking inwards.

Lynch photographs flora that can often appear as a jumble of plants and branches. Lynch says that she makes points of connection when she is in the physical landscape, stating: "Points of connection create spaces

which represent areas where new realities can be envisioned" (Lynch, n.d.). The points of connection provide a space or an opening in which Lynch can begin to look inwards and map her thoughts and imaginations onto her work. It is this process of finding connection or harmony between all things that reflects on a Zen perspective. The space or opening that Lynch looks for when in the landscape can be linked to wu. Wu is also comparable to the Sanskrit term, Śūnyatā. Śūnyatā translates to 'emptiness' or 'voidness' (New World Encyclopaedia, n.d.). Śūnyatā is similar to wu, as both are not really empty. For example, the Britannica website, when referring to Śūnyatā, states that "in Buddhist philosophy, the voidness that constitutes ultimate reality" (Britannica, n.d.). This is also referenced in Ben Tufnell's introductory essay in Cooper's book *True* which is an interesting example of reflecting this idea that the void is not really empty, as he states:

In Zen thought and iconography the Void is something to be sought and embraced. It represents clarity in opposition to the dense static of the world. It is an emptiness that allows us to find a true sense of relativity (Tufnell, 2009).

The void is not really empty because in the void lies everything and in the void multiple meanings can be created. The void can be difficult to define or even pictorially empty. However, in relation to photography, the emptiness allows the viewer to gain clarity as they contemplate the meaning of the work. Thus, the spaces in Lynch's photographs have the potential to hold everything which are generated from these new realities that she discusses.

Rocks are also considered as representing the Earth fundamental element. In Zen thinking, rocks often symbolise mountains. This is the case in Zen Gardens which are also known as Japanese rock gardens. Zen gardens were designed as part of a meditative process. They are visually minimalistic but each element of the garden acts as a symbol. For example, the sand symbolises water and is often raked to show movement found in water. However, the rocks in Zen gardens represent mountains. Mountains have symbolism too. In ancient China, both in Zen Buddhism and Taoism, mountains are seen as a natural element which reaches to the heavens. Van Thi Diep, in her essay *The Landscape of the Void: truth and magic in Chinese landscape painting*, states that "Chinese landscape paintings often depict this scenery: mountainous landscapes among the mists analogous of a place between heaven and earth" (Diep, 2017, p.79). Mountains represent the space between heaven and earth and so to climb one is similar to going on a pilgrimage. The higher one climbs the

nearer to heaven one is, both physically and symbolically. Therefore, rocks in Zen thinking symbolise not only mountains but also the connection of heaven and earth.



Figure 14: Voice (Lee, 2018-2019)

In Zen thinking, rocks have significance. The significance of the rock links to the next photographer in this thesis, Jungjin Lee. Lee is a Korean photographer who now lives in America. Lee photographs the landscape in black and white. She does not necessarily focus on one fundamental element per photographic series. However, each individual photograph predominantly focuses on a fundamental element. The way in which Lee photographs these natural elements is a way which portrays emptiness. The rock in Figure 14 is alone in the vast ocean. The picture is empty as there is no more narrative to the photograph. Considering Zen, this can have connotations of one's existence in the vast universe. It can also be considered as *wu*. It is in wu that one might interpret and imagine meaning. Thus, by photographing the elements in a particular way that deliberately only shows a rock in the vast ocean, one is forced to imagine and create narrative when viewing it.

The rock in Figure 14 is dark against the grey muted tones of the sky and sea which emphasises the presence of the rock. The question arises as to what the significance of the rock is. Rocks not only represent mountains and the space between heaven and earth, they can also symbolise time. Rocks hold a vast amount of geological time. Rocks are made up of multiple layers of minerals, sediments and fossils. These layers are built up over millions of years, resulting in a vast geological history found within these rocks. Figure 15 and 16 are photographs that I have taken. Figure 15 is similar to Lee's photograph of the rock in the ocean as it

portrays one rock alone in the landscape and the question again arises as to what the significance of the rock is. The type of rock that I photograph is a type of sedimentary rock called Gritstone. One of the locations that I photograph this type of rock in is Brimham Rocks. The rocks there were formed over 325 million years ago and, over time, water and weather has eroded them. There are different rock structures found in Brimham Rocks for example graded bedding (where larger grains are at the base and get progressively finer towards the top) and cross bedding (individual layers of sediment). These different rock structures develop over a long period of time. Thus, these rocks are representative of the vast geological time being discussed. Therefore, when photographing the rock on its own in the vast landscape, Lee could be reflecting on its importance in a vast geological history. She could also be reflecting on the symbolism of rocks from an Eastern perspective. This thesis cannot state why she is giving this particular rock significance, but its significance can be interpreted using these two concepts.





Figure 15 & 16: Rocks (Leitch, 2020)

3.4. Framing

Fundamental elements are the visual subject matter of the photographs. However, there are other visual strategies that can be considered when exploring the visual aspect of the work in this thesis. Thus, this thesis now discusses the framing of the work. The photographers in this thesis (apart from Jungjin Lee in a few of her photographs) do not include the horizon in their photographs. However, what does a lack of horizon do to a photograph? First of all, the lack of horizon creates a boundless image. When viewing the work, one does not know how far the subject matter expands beyond the edges of the photograph. It removes any sense of

scale from the photograph and the viewer is encouraged to imagine the size, and expanse of space that the subject matter fills. This links to the act of contemplation (which is considered as a characteristic of Zen) as the removal of a sense of scale encourages the viewer to contemplate the scale for themselves. In Boomoon's series *Falling Water*, the horizon was deliberately not included in the work. The removal of the horizon encourages the viewer to focus on the subject matter and encourages them to question the significance of the fundamental element. Thus, the lack of horizon encourages contemplation as it removes information about the physical landscape as well as directing the viewers' focus onto the subject matter of fundamental elements.

New Topographic photographers are also known for their placement of the horizon line. New Topographics was a term that was coined in 1975 by William Jenkins when he curated an exhibition of photographers associated with this photographic movement. It was a term used to describe the aesthetic used by American photographers who typically photographed black and white, man-altered landscapes. Traditionally, the horizon line is placed in the centre of the photograph to create balance between the elements. This is illustrated on American Suburb X which states:

Landscape's traditional midline placement of the horizon for compositional balance between earth and sky is often repositioned by New Topographics above or below midline, or is even absent, rendering the landscape cluttered, unbalanced, or constrained rather than pristine and endless" (American Suburb X, n.d.)

Thomas Joshua Cooper is influenced by New Topographic photographers. In Cooper's work the horizon is often absent, and the swirling ocean that fills the frame almost has that cluttered feel as there is no significant form in his framing of the landscape and the viewer is left potentially feeling lost. The absent horizon line in the photographers' work can create an unbalanced and overwhelming photograph. Typically, this overwhelming appearance of the landscape is discussed alongside the sublime. However, in Zen the idea of being overwhelmed by landscape is not associated with fear but rather embraced as a space for internal contemplation. The absence of the horizon can keep the viewers' eyes in the pictorial world for a longer amount of time. A straight horizon allows for the viewers' eyes to follow the line and out of the photograph. However, the lack of that horizon line in the photograph means the viewers do not have a formal guidance across the image, but rather a means to explore the world of the photograph in more detail in order to

53

comprehend it. This invites the viewer to stay in the pictorial world for longer in order to contemplate and interpret it.

3.5. Light

Light is a key factor in photography. Cameras redirect light rays which enter the camera and direct them to camera sensor or film in order for a photograph to be created. Thus, photographs need light to be taken. However, light can also be a subject matter within the photographs as well as a reflection of how the fundamental elements are looked at by the photographer. Awoiska van der Molen often photographs at night. Therefore, it can be said that she is drawn to the darkness when she is in the landscape. In an interview with FK magazine, Van der Molen states: "Darkness contains for me the beginning and the end; in there lays the source of everything" (Van der Molen, 2015). It is in darkness that more can be explored and discovered. This could be linked to the fundamental element of void in Indian thinking, as well as the Buddhist element of space. The darkness is a void or space in which discoveries can be made. Although the darkness in Van der Molen's photograph is visually empty (Figure, 17), it is not really empty as it is physically filled with trees, animals and earth. However, it is also metaphorically filled with the potential for meanings to be created and imaginations to be stimulated. Therefore, the darkness, although visually empty, acts as a canvas on which one can look inwards and make internal discoveries.



Figure 17: Sequester (Van der Molen, 2011)

This also links to the Taoist belief 'wu'. In Chapter 1, wu was discussed in relation to Asian landscape paintings, where areas of the canvas are deliberately left blank. In relation to wu, it is considered that these deliberately left blank spaces encourage one to fill the gaps with their own imagination and meaning. Thus, the darkness that Van der Molen photographs, can be considered alongside wu as the darkness is nothingness but in the nothingness lies everything. By throwing the centre of the photograph into darkness, the photograph becomes more about the light than about the fundamental elements. In Van der Molen's photograph, the darkness can be considered the main subject matter. However, it also reflects her way of looking at the physical landscape. As the darkness can be discussed alongside wu and the void, the photograph reflects more of her internal experience than it does of the actual place.

The darkness in Van der Molen's photograph is in the centre of the photograph. Similarly, when I took Figure 18, I wanted to frame the darkness in the centre of the photograph. Before taking Figure 18, I was walking along a coastal path, surrounded by trees, so dense that the sea could not even be seen. Then, around the corner, the wooded area opened out into an open space with an area by the sea which was bleak in contrast to the dense woodland. The open area was completely void of life, no humans, no animals, no vegetation, just the shingled cliff side. By emphasising the shadows when I photographed the landscape, I created an element of blankness, as no detail can be found in the centre of the image where the darkness lies. I intentionally did this to represent how the cliff opened up into a vast empty space which represents my journey of being in the dense forest and with a turn of a corner was in the vast bleak space. The centre of the photograph represents my journey through the landscape. However, neither the bleak coastal landscape or the shadow of the cliff are empty or blank. For example, there is rock, time, memories and history in these places. It is in the emptiness that I could look inwards and it is in these empty spaces that I mapped my imaginations.



Figure 18: Coast (Leitch, 2020)

<u>3.6. Blur</u>

Another visual strategy that reflects how the selected photographers look at the fundamental elements is the use of blur. Minny Lee is a key example of using blur in her work. In Minny Lee's project *Encounters* (2008-2010) she photographs a variety of trees which she says have a different personality (Figure 19, 20 & 21). She often refers to these photographs of trees as portraits. In discussing these portraits, she states that "the portraits are reflections of my inner state and childhood memories" (Lee, n.d.). This can refer back to the process of looking inwards and the photographs act as a reflection of this process. The trees in the photographs are often blurred. This can be due to her technical decisions for example, she might use a slow shutter speed and when working with natural elements, the wind could blow the trees causing them to blur as the photograph is taken. However, the blur in Lee's photographs could also be interpreted as representing the concept that memories are not always easy to remember. The blurred trees could represent a lack of clarity in her childhood memories, acting as a visual representation of Lee's attempt to gain clarity of her own memories and experiences.



Figure 19, 20 & 21: Encounters (Lee, 2008-2010)

Lee often plays with the colour of the sky in her photographs of trees. In some photographs the sky is a vivid blue (Figure 19) whereas in others a muted brown (Figure 20). The variety of colours can represent different times or different seasons. Although these colours can be natural and the sky can be these colours, they somehow feel abstract. This could be due to the combination of the colourful sky alongside the blurred trees which makes the work feel almost dreamlike. This can also be suggestive of reflecting on the past. In an interview with Tracking Art, she states: "We don't always live in the present and in reality. We constantly go

back and forth between the past and present and dream and reality. From the absence of something, I can imagine the presence of something" (Lee, 2011). Her project *Encounters* is an exploration of her childhood memories. Thus, the dreamlike photographs represent this idea of exploring the past and the confusion between what she remembers and what really happened. The blurred trees act as the blurred line between dream and reality.

Thomas Joshua Cooper also uses blur in his photographs. He photographs the sea but portrays its swirling movement through using blur. This further creates an abstract viewpoint of the landscape. One does not view the movement of the ocean as a slow blur so this creates an alternative, abstract way of looking at the sea. The blur also can also be interpreted as representing time passing. Cooper occasionally photographs at night and a slow shutter speed will have been used in order to allow for the sea to be seen. This passing of time being visually suggested in Cooper's work can be reflective of the vast journey that Cooper went on to create this body of work. The journey expanded over a long period of time. Thus, the journey, although not visually portrayed, is a key part of Cooper's process that can be considered when studying his work and the concept of time.

This chapter has explored the visible subject matter of fundamental elements. However, the chapter has also considered the visual strategies that reflect on how the photographer looks at these fundamental elements. These visual strategies were framing, light and blur. How the selected photographers have photographed the fundamental elements reflects on internal contemplation and creates ambiguity in the work which encourages contemplation from the viewer. This idea of the viewers' internal contemplation of the work is discussed in the following chapter which explores an embodied openness in the process of viewing the work.

57

Chapter 4 - Embodied Openness in Viewing

In the previous chapters, the photographers' work has been studied through considering their embodied slowness in their process of making as well as their subject matter of fundamental elements. However, embodied slowness is not the only embodied experience that can be discussed in relation to the selected photographers in this thesis. In this chapter the embodied experience of viewing the work will be considered. This experience of viewing the work is called an embodied openness as the work being viewed invites the viewer to interpret and contemplate the work. The photographs that have been discussed withhold certain information from the viewer which encourages the viewer to create meaning and narrative based on their own thoughts.

This embodied openness in the process of viewing the work would ideally discuss both the photobook and gallery exhibitions of the photographers. However, due to Coronavirus, gallery viewing has not been possible. Thus, I cannot discuss this idea from an embodied experience perspective as I have not had the opportunity to view the photographers' work in a gallery setting. Although, this thesis acknowledges the importance of gallery viewing in the process of having an embodied experience of viewing the work, this chapter will focus more on the photobook.

A photobook is not a book of photographs where the photographs inside are the body of work. Instead, the body of work is the photobook as a whole. When the photographers make a photobook they will make conscious decisions about each element of the book. For example, the cover, the paper type, the bind and the sequence of images. This chapter will interpret the meaning of these conscious decisions and consider how they could affect the viewers' interpretation of the work.

4.1. Minny Lee

The first photographer whose photobook will be considered is Minny Lee. In the previous chapter Minny Lee's project *Encounters* (2008-2010) was discussed. The photographs that she took for this photographic series were then made into a book. The book is an accordion bind which, once opened out, allows for the viewer to traverse through the work. It acts as a connected journey which reflects on Lee's journey to explore her childhood memories. When the book is fully opened out, the viewer can see the

variety of trees that Lee photographed as she states that each tree has a different personality. Therefore, the format of the book really allows for the different personalities to be seen. The accordion fold also requires a tactile engagement from the viewer in order to turn the pages and open the book out. The book immediately provides an experience of viewing the work in which the viewer physically has to turn the pages in order to see the work in more detail.



Figure 22: Encounters Book (Lee, 2015)

Lee when printing her photographs experimented with printing on rice paper, which she says she used in both her books and her installation process in the gallery. This use of rice paper reflects on an Eastern tradition of landscape painting as Chinese landscape painters often paint on rice paper and have done for thousands of years. Lee is a multimedia artist from South Korea who now lives in Hawaii in America and Encounters is a series which reflects on her childhood memories. Thus, Lee's choice of rice paper can be interpreted as a representation of her desire to return to her childhood memories when she lived in South Korea. Hence, the paper choice could be a reflection of her origin and culture. The viewer who then touches this paper in the book can make the connection between Lee, her childhood and the place where she grew up. However, it is only through having knowledge of the cultural history of rice paper that one might make those connections. Rice paper is a thin paper stock to use so when turning the pages of the book the work feels delicate. As the project reflects on Lee's childhood memories, the project is personal and intimate. Thus, the paper, being delicate, reflects the delicacy of the personal journey that Lee goes on. Also, this use of rice paper lead to a slow book making process. Lee's photographs are dark and the paper is thin, so when digitally printing on this paper type she stated it often got jammed (griffinmuseum.org, n.d.). Although the

slow process is due to the technical difficulties of working with the delicate paper, it still reflects the embodied slowness in her process of making.

The delicacy of the paper is also emphasised by the size of the book. The book itself is 5.5 x 7.5 inches. Thus, the book itself is small and emphasises the intimacy of the project. When holding this book, the viewers can immediately feel the quietness and personal aspect of the work as they can hold it in one hand as they view it. The cover of the book is a soft cover which introduces the delicacy of the work right from the beginning of the viewing experience.

4.2. Jungjin Lee



Figure 23: Opening Book (Lee, 2017)



Figure 24: *Opening Exhibition* (Lee, n.d.)

Similar to Minny Lee, Jungjin Lee's book, *Opening*, is also an accordion fold. J.Lee's book is 15 x 7.5inches meaning the vertical edges are significantly longer than the horizontal edges (as seen in Figure 23). Although this chapter is focusing on the photo books, there remains an awareness of the gallery exhibitions. The way in which Lee exhibits her work is similar to the vertical style of her book (Figure 24). This has reference to hanging scrolls which are a traditional East Asian way of displaying paintings. Hanging scrolls have a vast cultural history. When Lee's work is viewed, the connections to the cultural meaning can be made. When discussing her reasons for printing her work in this vertical format she states:

Choosing a vertical format was an attempt to express the limitation of one's mind, and the title *Opening* refers to an opening of the heart, a freeing of it from its limitations. My thinking in general is rooted in Asian philosophy: Buddhism and Taoism. That philosophy is reflected in the concept of *Opening* more than with any of my previous series (Lee, n.d.).

It does not matter whether the work is being viewed in the gallery setting or through studying the book, this vertical display still has these ideas reflected in it. The vertical display represents how one's mind is limited. However, due to Lee's influences of Taoism and Buddhism, it can be considered that although one's mind is limited, it is through Taoism and Zen that one's mind becomes more open to interpretation. Thus, when viewing these vertical images, they represent one's openness within their inner self. The title *Opening* refers to an 'opening of the heart' (Lee, n.d.). Hence this can also refer to the embodied openness of viewing the work as the viewer interprets the work based on their inner feelings. It can also be stated that human perception can be limited and thus the mind's limitation can also be a reflection of human perception. If it is unseen to the viewer, it could provide a sense of the unknown. However, often there remains a sense of knowing that revolves around the unseen. For example, although it is unseen it does not mean it does not exist. Through an open mind and heart one can have awareness of entities existing in the unseen aspects of the world as one can imagine them. Thus, these limitations of one's mind that these vertical images represent can actually be considered as an invitation for contemplation and interpretation, in order to be free of these limitations.

Similar to Minny Lee, Jungjin Lee also works with rice paper. In discussing her book *Unnamed Road*, MACK books states: "Lee's work is often concerned with the materiality of printing technique, and for twenty years she has utilised a liquid photo-sensitive emulsion brushed on handmade rice paper, a method

akin to painting" (MACK, n.d.). Lee often wants her photographs to have visual similarities to paintings and through this paper choice she can achieve this as there is a vast cultural history surrounding rice paper in Chinese landscape paintings. In an article for Pasatiemto Magazine which discusses Lee's work, Teri Thomson Randall states: "The artist decided to print on handmade rice paper for its softness and texture. 'You can see the skin of it,' she said, referring to the particles of straw that remain in the pulp" (Randall, 2002). Because one can see the particles of straw in the paper, the viewer immediately can think about the natural elements that helped create the paper. As Lee photographs the fundamental elements in the landscape a connection between the subject matter of the photographs and the paper stock is made as the viewer touches it. It immediately creates a relationship between the viewer and nature as they can almost feel the elements as they touch the work. The handmade rice paper that Lee prints on often has rough textured edges. This also feels natural as she embraces the roughness of the edges of the photographs rough. The photographs in the book often have blank breathing space around them. Thus, by keeping the edges of the photographs rough, it gives the work significance. This is because the viewer can associate the rough edges and the paper stock with nature and then contemplate them in the breathing space.

Opening is a hardcover and it sits in a slipcase. The slipcase contains one photograph, whereas the cover of the book only has the title of the book printed on it. As the viewer removes the book from the slipcase they feel as though they are unveiling the work and the concepts that lie within it. The title of the work is the first thing the viewer sees as they remove the book from the slip case. This immediately creates a feeling that by unveiling the work it acts as an opening for something more to be discovered. Thus, the book acts as an opening for further contemplation and interpretation as the viewer is invited to consider this as they physically open the book and study the work.

4.3. Janelle Lynch

Similarly to Minny Lee and Jungjin Lee, Janelle Lynch's book *Another Way of Looking at Love* is also an accordion folded format. Previously, it was stated that Lynch's work is an exploration of the interconnectedness of nature and our relationship with it. Also, when she goes into the landscape to take the photographs she states that she finds points of connection. Thus, it can be interpreted that the accordion fold

reflects these key ideas of Lynch's work as all the pages are connected, reflecting on the connection between all life forms.



Figure 25: Accordion pages of "Janelle Lynch: Another Way of Looking at Love" (Lynch, 2018)

When discussing the interconnectedness of nature, Lynch states that it also "supports a renewal of human relationships to each other, and to the natural and the spiritual worlds" (Lynch, n.d.). These human relationships are immediately engaged with, as the caption of the first photograph is "For You". By initially captioning the first photograph "For You", the book feels intimate and personal. It creates a relationship between the viewer and the photographer as the work feels like it has been given to them to explore. The other captions in the book often appear on the opposite page to the photograph. The page that they appear on is blank and provides breathing room between the images. This breathing room allows one to really consider the work they are viewing and begin contemplating its meaning. The captions do not provide the viewer with knowledge of the plants, rather it introduces a poetic way of reading the images. For example, some of the captions are "Snow Dance" and "Red Leaves After Rain". Thus, the captions are not scientific captions of each plant but rather a poetic description of the photograph being viewed. The captions withhold information about the plants and the location. This suggests that knowledge of the subject matter is not required for the interpretation of the work but rather the internal contemplation it encourages is. At the beginning of the book on a blank page spread, there is a single quote by Rebecca Solnit: "How long does it take to see something?" (Solnit, 2018). Immediately the viewer is faced with this quote and immediately the viewer

questions what it means to see something. When discussing gazing in relation to Jungjin Lee and Thomas Joshua Cooper's work, it was mentioned that gazing leads to seeing. This suggests that seeing is of a deeper level than just visually seeing the work. It can be interpreted that seeing is to really understand something. Thus, after reading this quote and moving on to view the work, the viewer searches and studies the work in a state of contemplation in order to really understand it.

Minny Lee's book was considered delicate based on its size, cover and paper stock. Although both books are accordion fold, they have their differences in this sense. Lynch's cover is hardcover and the size of the book is 9x12 inches. The paper stock is thicker and the book is heavier and on the larger side for the viewer to hold. Although, the book itself is not delicate in the sense that Lee's book is, the heaviness and size means that the viewer feels the weight of the work in their hands. This weight can be interpreted as giving the work importance as its presence is made clear for the viewer to experience.

Previously, the photographers' work has been discussed alongside Zen's being present in the moment. In Lynch's book there is an essay by Darius Himes who states: "whether a photograph is looked at one minute, one year, one century after it is made, it is always the present moment with that magical time" (Himes, 2018). Thus, the photographs are reflections of a single moment frozen in time. The book, being a collection and story of these photographs represents the photographer's experiences and moments of being present whilst in the landscape. As the viewer explores the book, they too can follow the journey that the photographer went on whilst being present in the moment and can engage with their own inner thoughts whilst viewing it.

4.4. Awoiska van der Molen

The next book that will be considered is *Blanco* by Awoiska van der Molen. The front cover is a royal blue canvas cover with white text saying "Blanco" and "Awoiska van der Molen" on. The blue does not correspond to the work inside the book and the cover does not reveal any information about the work inside. Thus, information is being withheld from the viewer which creates an ambiguous aspect to the work from the initial viewing of the book. This ambiguity immediately invites the viewer to contemplate and imagine meaning as the cover does not reveal anything to them, it also encourages the viewer to open up the book in order to discover more. Inside the book this ambiguity is enhanced through a lack of captions. None of the

photographs are labelled, thus the viewer is only faced with the photograph. Therefore, one's interpretation of the work is through the feel of the book and the look of the images, rather than through solid information being provided for them.



Figure 26: Blanco book (Van der Molen, 2017)

The title *Blanco* in Dutch translates to 'blank'. In an interview with Jack French for Lens Culture, Van der Molen states: "In Dutch, "Blanco" means when something is unwritten, left empty. Blank...So, I don't want to steer anything, only offer the image. No words" (Van der Molen, n.d.). Thus, similar to the blank cover, the work does not aim to provide the viewer with information that provides a narrative. It asks them to think and to feel when turning the pages rather than have an understanding of the work based on knowledge. This links to the surrender of power that is a key departure from a Western notion of the sublime and key to the consideration of Zen. The work does not provide knowledge but rather embraces the unknown which stimulates one's imagination. When Van der Molen discusses the term 'Blanco' she states that it means 'left empty'. This can also be linked to the Taoist concept of wu which means nothingness. Van der Molen's photographs are not visually empty but they are empty of specific information. It is in a lack of knowledge that one can fill the nothingness (wu) with meaning. When the viewer looks at the front cover, they immediately are invited to contemplate and interpret the work based on their own thoughts and ideas. Inside the book is an insert written by Anna Dannemann which states: "using her personal experience within the landscape for her creative process, she instinctively searches for a state of being in which the boundary between herself and her surroundings blur" (Dannemann, 2017). By creating a book that is ambiguous in its initial appearance and by withholding information from the viewer, the line between the viewer's state of

being and the work also becomes blurred. The viewing process becomes an internal contemplation as each viewer interprets meaning. Hence, similar to Van der Molen when she is in the landscape, the viewers also use their personal experiences in order to have the embodied openness in the process of viewing. It is through this embodied openness of viewing that the viewers create their own meaning in the work.

The canvas cover is slightly rough in texture. This textured cover, as it is held in the viewer's hands, contrasts against the smooth paper stock of the inside pages. As the viewer studies the photographs of the fundamental elements they are reminded of the natural textures of the subject matter through the feel of the cover. However, the smoothness of the paper stock in the internal pages introduces a delicacy and softness to the work. Therefore, the viewer is both reminded of the fundamental elements being photographed due to the rough cover as well as the intimacy of the work through the soft and smooth internal pages. Inside the book, the smooth pages turn into a speckled grey card when it reaches an essay by Arjen Mulder who writes about the effect nature has on us when photographing it. When discussing Van der Molen's work he states: "These are not photos of or after Nature, the photos are part of that same Nature, of an event enabled by Nature, via her camera at that particular point in time and that particular exposure" (Mulder, 2017). Thus, he is suggesting that nature imprints these moments onto the photographer as they take a photograph. It relates to a point of clarity when an unconscious readiness to take a photograph is felt, and it is nature that provides this moment to occur. The images are a reflection of nature rather than it being solely a human's decisive creation. Similar to the canvas cover, the viewer is reminded of the natural subject matter of both the photographs and the essay as the paper stock that the essay is printed onto is slightly rough in texture and a heavier weight to the rest of the internal pages.

4.5. Thomas Joshua Cooper

Thomas Joshua Cooper's books are heavy, large in scale, and the covers of his books are often canvas hardbacks. The paper stock inside is also heavy as it has a higher GSM. GSM (grams per square metre) is the unit of weight used to describe the heaviness of the paper. As the viewer traverses through the heavy book, they travel through Cooper's vast journey and the weight reminds the viewer of the weight of the project as it was a large project taken over a long period of time. The inside pages, although heavy, are smooth and they subtly reflect light. At the beginning of the book *True* is the essay by Ben Tufnell. The following quote taken from Tufnell's essay was previously mentioned in relation to Cooper's photograph acting as a reflection of

his inner self. However, it can also be used to discuss the paper stock that is used inside the book because Tufnell states that:

He stands with his back to the land and looks out at the sea. His characteristic position here is one of looking out - at the void - and thereby looking inwards. For the gaze that lights upon a blank plane is inevitably turned back upon itself (Tufnell, 2009).

Thus, it can be interpreted that the paper choice which subtly reflects light has connotations of Cooper's gaze reflecting back into his photographs. The work not only has vast history and references to time, it is also a reflection of Cooper's inner self. As the viewer studies this book, the light from their surroundings is reflected back off the body of work and can present the personal experience of viewing the book. One can view the book in their own choice of setting; thus the reflection of light is a personal experience for each viewer. It is through this personal experience that one can look inwards and then try to understand the work they are viewing.



Figure 27: True book (Cooper, 2009)

The majority of the photographs in *True* are on the right-hand page and the left hand page remains blank. However, there is the occasional punctuation in the rhythm of the sequence through a double page spread with images on each side. Occasionally there is also a blank double page spread. These blank spreads act as pauses in Cooper's journey and give the viewer breathing room to contemplate the work that they have seen so far. Inside the book there are also trifold spreads. The photographs in these trifold spreads have subtle differences and act as a triptych to show the subtlety in the landscape. In order to study these photographs the viewer has to interact with the work further my folding and unfolding the page from the centre fold. It acts as a reveal of the landscape as the viewer physically uncovers two photographs that are otherwise unseen. Ben Tufnell writes: "Thomas Joshua Cooper's real subject is not what is seen, but what is unseen (but implied)" (Tufnell, 2009). The images behind the trifold are unseen, and it becomes an experience for the viewer to reveal the unseen. Thus, the trifold aspect throughout the book reflects on Tufnell's statement that Cooper's subject is unseen but implied.



Figure 28: West - Looking towards Sweden (Cooper,

When discussing Van der Molen's book, it was mentioned how there is a lack of captions which makes the work ambiguous and open to interpretation. However, in Cooper's books there are often captions alongside the photographs. For example, in the book *True*, a couple of the captions are: "West - Looking towards Sweden" (Figure 28) or "Prime Head". As well as these captions, there are the actual locations in which the photographs are taken as well as the map coordinates. Therefore, the location of the photographs is made clear and that information is directly handed to the viewer. However, despite the information being provided, it does not mean that Cooper's work is not ambiguous. The actual photographs do not tell the viewer anything about the place. For example, the *West - Looking towards Sweden* photograph, is of the sea. The sea in the photograph is a dark grey with a white blurred wave coming into frame from the top right-hand corner.

Therefore, the viewpoint in which the photograph is taken is not reflective of the caption. The photograph does not reflect on the gaze of looking out to Sweden, rather it reflects on looking into the ocean. Thus, the

captions feel as though the place is important but the photographs do not. In Cooper's PhD he discusses his book by stating: "the photographs in *The Atlas* bookworks are made to be seen, read and studied in order to be understood" (Cooper, 2017). Thus, although the caption can provide some information, it does not necessarily provide an understanding. Through studying the work and reflecting inwards, the work can begin to be understood. By merely looking briefly at the photographs an understanding will not be made, thus, the work requires a slow process of studying the work. This slow process of viewing reflects the slow process of making that was discussed in Chapter 2. At the beginning of *True* there are two maps. In his PhD Cooper describes his books as a photographic atlas. Cooper goes on a vast journey to create his photographs where he mapped out each point that he stopped at. Thus, the book can be considered as a photographic atlas as the images represent his mapped out points. This could also suggest why the captions share the details of each location as the book acts as an atlas in which you would find certain information such as longitude and latitude.



Figure 29: Maps in True (Cooper, 2009)

4.6. Boomoon

The final photographer whose book will be discussed in this chapter is Boomoon. Similar to not being able to experience viewing the photographers' work in a gallery setting, I have also not been able to see one of Boomoon's books in person. Therefore, I cannot discuss paper stocks and the cover in relation to the viewing

experience. However, despite this, how the photographs are presented inside the book as well as the size of the book can still be discussed.

When discussing Boomoon's use of fundamental elements it was stated that he creates a typology of images. This is also reflected in his books. When he creates his books it is often one photograph per page and on each page the photograph is situated in the same place. Although each photograph has subtle differences, they are all of the same subject matter, they all have the same frame and they are all the same size on the page (as seen in Figure 30). Thus, there is an element of repetition throughout the work. This is also emphasised by the repetitive motion from the viewer as they repeatedly turn the page to find a visually similar photograph. However, this repetition encourages the viewer to study each individual photograph in order to find the differences between each photograph.



Figure 30: Naksan (Boomoon, 2010)

The typology of photographs can also be interpreted as time passing. It was previously mentioned that Boomoon often photographs water, especially in the form of waterfalls. Waterfalls are constantly moving and the fall of the water takes on different forms all the time. Therefore, by creating a typology of photographs he is capturing the subtle changes in form that occur constantly but can be unseen to the human eye. It is due to the camera being able to freeze the falling water in that present moment that allows for these subtle differences to be seen. Therefore, as the viewer moves through the book in a receptive action and studies the subtleties between each photograph, they can be aware of time passing which is captured in each photograph.

Although the gallery setting cannot be discussed as part of my personal embodied experience of viewing the work, it is important to mention how Boomoon exhibits his work in a gallery setting. Boomoon prints his photographs large scale. As it is printed large-scale, it allows the viewer to see the unseen because the viewer is able to see the abstract forms of the falling water that they would not be able to see without the camera freezing it in time. The large scale prints in the gallery provide a pictorial world that the viewer can explore and feel as though they are in the landscape. Although, the prints in the gallery are bigger than in a book, the large scale is still reflected in his books. The books that Boomoon creates are often larger in size. For example, his book *Naksan* is 13.2 x 9 inches. His book *Skogar* has two editions, one being 13.3 x 19.7 inches and the other being 7.3 x 9.5 inches. Therefore, as his books are of a larger scale, it can be stated that the book also provides a pictorial world. However, it is a pictorial world that requires the physical engagement of turning the pages in order to explore it.

This chapter has considered each of the selected photographers' books. It is through studying these books that connections can be made between the work and the meaning of the project as well as making cultural connections. Each photobook will have had multiple conscious decisions made in order to translate ideas into the viewing process. Although, the photographers cannot state what the viewer should think or feel when viewing the work, it is the conscious decisions that alter one's interpretations. However, ultimately it is due to the embodied openness in viewing the work, where the viewer contemplates and imagines meaning, that allows for these interpretations to be made.

71
Conclusion

In an attempt to understand a group of contemporary landscape photographers, research initially began by exploring aesthetics that I was strongly influenced by. The main aesthetic that influenced my understanding of landscape photography was the Western notion of the sublime. Through my investigation into discussing the selected photographers through notions of the sublime, I realised there were some difficulties in solely discussing their work based on sublime concepts. The reason for these difficulties is because the sublime is about reaching the edge of the known and facing the unknown which causes an overwhelming feeling associated with fear. This fear caused by the unknown relates to power as it can be stated that knowledge is power. However, when exploring the photographers in this thesis, I felt that they had rejected this idea of power through knowledge and had surrendered their power. This surrender of power is reflected in their work in multiple ways, for example: they create ambiguous photographs that withhold certain information from the viewer, they have an embodied slowness whilst in the physical landscape, and they encourage personal contemplation from the viewer which invites internal thoughts to be the source of their interpretation rather than information. Driven by these difficulties in considering the selected photographers through notions of the sublime, this thesis began considering alternative ways of thinking about the work. The alternative way of thinking that I explored was the Buddhist thinking of Zen.

The journey of considering Zen as an alternative way of thinking reflects my own journey in understanding the contemporary photographers' work in more detail. As I have previously been heavily influenced by Western aesthetics, this idea of a Zen perspective represents a newfound way of my own personal understanding of selected landscape imagery. In order to consider the selected photographers through a Zen way of thinking, the thesis identified common strategies between the photographers' work. These strategies are: they all embrace an embodied slowness in their process of making, they all photograph fundamental elements and there is an embodied openness encouraged in the process of viewing the work. To establish a Zen way of thinking about these photographers, the thesis began by considering the sublime as a stepping stone for an alternative way of thinking to be required before discussing Zen as a Buddhist belief and practice. It was specifically by considering the writings of D.T. Suzuki (who discussed experiences being necessary for understanding Zen) and Kabat-Zinn (who discussed the idea of being present in the moment) that I was able to identify key aspects of Zen to carry forward into the discussion of the photographers'

72

common strategies. These key aspects are: being present in the moment, internal contemplation and openness.

Though combining these common strategies of the photographers' work with the selected aspects of Zen, it was discovered first of all that the embodied slowness in the process of making can encourage an internal reflection. Through walking, waiting, the use of certain equipment and working in solitude, the photographer can rid themselves of distractions from the fast-paced world and be focused on the present moment. This level of focus can allow for time to be spent looking inwards and connecting with nature which leads to a sense of clarity. It is the sense of clarity that corresponds with the photograph being taken. The thesis in the discussion of an embodied slowness turned to Rebecca Solnit who discusses walking as harmony between the mind, the body and the world which relates to the Zen aspect of internal contemplation.

Secondly, the thesis identified that the subject matter of fundamental elements had cultural connotations. For example when Peter Brüesch discusses the Buddhist cultural beliefs on water, he states: "Water symbolises purity, clarity and calmness and reminds us to cleanse our minds and attain the state of purity" (Brüesch, 2011) In this thesis, this idea of water symbolising clarity was associated with Boomoon photographing the fundamental elements in the landscape as a means for self-reflection in which he gains clarity of the world around him as well as his internal self. Therefore, cultural connotations can be reflected through the subject matter of fundamental elements. However, it is through the framing of the landscape and the visual methods reflecting how the photographers look at the elements that the work can be considered ambiguous. The thesis identified a surrender of power which links to embracing the unknown. It was through exploring these ambiguous images that the thesis identified the idea that by creating work that does not tell the viewer anything about the place, the work encourages the viewer to also embrace the unknown. It is in this ambiguity that the photographers' self-reflection as well as the viewer's internal contemplation was considered.

Finally, the embodied openness in viewing the work was considered. This chapter was more limited due to the absence of the discussion surrounding gallery viewing. Although gallery viewing was acknowledged as a key idea in the embodied openness in viewing the work, it could not be discussed in detail. This is due to current circumstances of Coronavirus resulting in me not being able to experience viewing the photographers' work in a gallery setting. However, the photobook became the key topic in the exploration of

73

an embodied openness in viewing the work. It was through considering different aspects of the photobook (for example, cover, paper stock, use of captions) that the viewer's experience of viewing the work was explored. These deliberate decisions of presenting the work in a particular way encourages the viewer to contemplate the work and interpret it based on their own internal thoughts.

In conclusion, although not typically used as a way of thinking about landscape imagery, Zen has key ideas that reflect on the selected photographers' work. Although the selected photographers work can be considered through notions of the Western aesthetics (the sublime, the beautiful and the picturesque), it is through considering Zen that has allowed for me to consider alternative ways of understanding the work. Each case study has highlighted how photography and Zen can be considered in harmony with one another as there are similarities in both practices. Landscape imagery reflects on our relationship with the land and by considering the selected work through a Zen perspective, an alternative relationship has been explored.

Throughout this thesis, it has been stated that the chosen photographers are present in the moment whilst in the physical landscape. This results in them connecting with nature. Therefore, the alternative relationship that has been explored through studying a Zen perspective is one where the photographers are on a more equal ground to nature as they aim to connect with it. It can also be stated that by making photographs through a Zen lens, the photographers have a contemplative attitude towards the landscape. This is because they encourage internal contemplation when experiencing both the physical landscape and in the process of viewing their photographs of the landscape. Considering this idea in a wider context, the world is currently in an era of climate catastrophe. By connecting with nature on a more equal ground and through the encouragement of a contemplative attitude towards the landscape, it might influence one to consider how human impact affects the natural world. In Section 1.4 it was stated how in Zen mindfulness one is present in the moment which allows one to have a sense of clarity and greater awareness. From a Zen perspective, one's position to nature might be contemplative but this also influences a greater awareness about the landscape and our position in the world. This becomes an important concept to consider, as through the mindfulness perspective of the Zen lens, it could influence one's awareness of the current climate catastrophe we face.

Although this thesis is only the beginning of my research into Zen as an alternative way of thinking about landscape photography, it has only briefly touched on each aspect of Zen in relation to the photographers'

74

methods. Therefore, this idea would be a fruitful area for further research in order to consider the idea in more detail and by doing so even more similarities and discoveries might be made. However, the findings in this thesis show that Zen and the selected contemporary landscape photography, when considered in harmony with one another, can introduce an alternative way of understanding the work.

References

Adams, A (1927). *Monolith, the Face of Half Dome* [Photograph]. The Met. https://www.metmuseum.org/art/collection/search/262595

American Suburb X. (2012). *New Topographics: "Landscape and the West - Irony and Critique in New Topographic Photography"*. ASX. https://americansuburbx.com/2012/05/new-topographics-landscape-and-the-west-irony-and-critique-in-new-topographic-photography-2005.html

BBC. (n.d.). Zen Buddhism. BBC. https://www.bbc.co.uk/religion/religions/buddhism/subdivisions/ zen_1.shtml

Boomoon, (n.d.). Biography. BOOMOON. http://www.boomoon.net/biography.html

Boomoon (2010). Naksan [Photograph]. Biblioscapes. https://biblioscapes.com/library/naksan

Boomoon, . (2010). Naksan. Nazraeli Press.

Boomoon (2016). *Falling Water #8350* [Photograph]. Boomoon|Photography. http://www.boomoon.net/work.html?mode=deep&type=view&id=3014&cid=3

Boomoon (2016). *Falling Water #5580* [Photograph]. Boomoon|Photography. http://www.boomoon.net/work.html?mode=deep&type=view&id=3014&cid=3

Boomoon (2016). *Falling Water* [Screenshot]. BOOMOON. http://www.boomoon.net/work.html? mode=deep

Britannica. (n.d.). Aesthetics. Britannica. https://www.britannica.com/topic/aesthetics

Britannica. (n.d.). Sunyata. Britannica. https://www.britannica.com/topic/sunyata

Britannica. (n.d.). Skanha - Buddhism. Britannica. https://www.britannica.com/topic/skandha

Brady, E. (2013). *The Sublime in Modern Philosophy: Aesthetics, Ethics, and Nature*. Cambridge University Press.

Brüesch, P. (2011). *Water - its significance in science, in nature and culture, in world religions and in the universe* [Report, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology ETH]. https://www.research-collection.ethz.ch/bitstream/handle/20.500.11850/152589/eth-2577-11.pdf? sequence=11&isAllowed=y

Burke, E. (1824). *A Philosophical Enquiry Into the Origin of Our Ideas of the Sublime and Beautiful*. A. Robertson & Company. (Original work published 1757).

Cazeaux, C. (2011). The Continental Aesthetics Reader (2nd ed.). Routledge.

Chem Europe. (n.d.). *Classical Element*. ChemEurope.com. https://www.chemeurope.com/en/encyclopedia/Classical_element.html

Chen, Z (1368/1644). *The North Sea* [Handscroll: ink and light color on silk]. Google Arts and Culture. https://artsandculture.google.com/asset/the-north-sea-zhou-chen/cwE_VtknaL4jgw?hl=en

Chung, S. K. (2014). *Looking at Art Teaching Through Zen Aesthetics*. Visual Arts Research, 40(1), 14-16. https://doi.org/doi:10.5406/visuartsrese.40.1.0014

Chung, S. K. (2014). Looking at art teaching through Zen aesthetics. *Visual Arts Research*, 40(1), 14-16. https://doi.org/10.5406/visuartsrese.40.1.0014

Clark, T. (2016). In Praise of Walking. ArtWorks.

Confucius, ., & Slingerland, E. (2003). *Confucius Analects: With Selections from Traditional Commentaries*. (E. Slingerland, Trans.) Hackett Publishing. (Original work published unknown).

Cooper, T (1990-2001). *The Swelling of the Sea* | *Furthest West - The Atlantic Ocean* | *Point Ardnamurchan, Scotland* | *The West-most point of mainland Great Britain* [Photograph]. Tate. https://www.tate.org.uk/art/artists/thomas-joshua-cooper-4744

Cooper, T.J (2004). *First Light—The South Indian Ocean, the Cape of Good Hope, #2, South Africa, the Southwest-Most Point of Continental Africa* [Photograph]. LACMA. https://www.lacma.org/art/exhibition/thomas-joshua-cooper-worlds-edge

Cooper, T. J. (2017). *Gauging the Distance - The Reach for Extremity and Emptiness* [PhD Thesis, University of Glasgow]. http://radar.gsa.ac.uk/5300/

Cooper, T. J. (2009). True. Haunch of Venison.

Cooper, T.J (2021). *True Book* [Photograph]. Beth Leitch Photography. https:// bethleitchphotography.wordpress.com/blog/

Cooper, T.J (2021). *Looking towards Sweden* [Photograph]. Beth Leitch Photography. https:// bethleitchphotography.wordpress.com/blog/

Cooper, T.J (2021). *Maps in True* [Photograph]. Beth Leitch Photography. https:// bethleitchphotography.wordpress.com/blog/

Cosgrove, D. E. (1998). *Social Formation and Symbolic Landscape* (illustrated, reprint ed.). University of Wisconsin Press.

Diep, V. T. (2017). The landscape of the void: truth and magic in Chinese landscape painting. *Journal of Visual Art Practice*, 16(1), 77-86. https://doi.org/10.1080/14702029.2016.1245489

Emmanuel, S. (2013). A Companion to Buddhist Philosophy. John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated.

FK magazine. (2015). *Interview with Awoiska van der Molen*. FK. https://fkmagazine.lv/ 2015/01/14/interview-with-awoiska-van-der-molen/

Friedrich, C (1808/1810). *Monk by the Sea* [Oil on canvas]. Google Arts and Culture. https://artsandculture.google.com/asset/mönch-am-meer/KwEv_TMiJhn5kA?hl=en-GB

Giblett, R., & Tolonen, J. (2013). Photography and Landscape. Intellect Books.

Giblett, R. (2009). Wilderness to wasteland in the photography of the American west. *Journal of Media & Cultural Studies*, 23(1), 43-52. https://doi.org/libaccess.hud.ac.uk/ 10.1080/10304310802570866

Griffin Museum of Photography. (2020). *Minny Lee* | *Artists Photobook Initiative*. Griffin Museum of Photography. https://griffinmuseum.org/minny-lee-artists-photobook-initiative/

Hagen, S. (1997). Buddhism Plain and Simple. Penguin Books Limited.

Jaffe, R. M. (2015). *Selected Works of D.T.Suzuki, Volume 1: Zen*. University of California Press. https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1525/j.ctt9qh2v5

Kabat-Zinn, J. (2016). *Wherever You Go, There You Are : Mindfulness Meditation for Everyday Life* (Ebook ed.). Little, Brown Book Group.

Kant, I. (2000). *Critique of the Power of Judgment*. (P. Guyer & E. Matthews, Trans.) (revised, reprint ed.) Cambridge University Press. (Original work published 1790).

Kul-Want, C., & Klimowski, A. (2011). Introducing Kant: A Graphic Guide. Icon Books. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/HUD/detail.action?docID=4782008&pq-origsite=summon

Lee, J (n.d.). Untitled [Photograph]. http://www.jungjinlee.com/voice.

Lee, J (n.d.). *Jungjin Lee:Opening Exhibition* [Photograph]. Howard Greenberg Gallery. https://www.howardgreenberg.com/exhibitions/jungjin-lee-opening/installation-views?view=slider#2

Lee, J (2017). Opening Book [Photograph]. Shashasha. https://www.shashasha.co/en/book/opening

Lee, J. (2017). Opening. Nazraeli Press.

Lee, M. (n.d.). *About the Artist*. Minny Lee - self in place. https://www.minnylee.com/about-the-artist

Lee, M (2008-2010). *Encounters* [Photograph]. Minny Lee - self in place. https://www.minnylee.com

Lee, M. (n.d.). Encounters. Minny Lee. http://www.minnylee.com

Lee, M. (2015). Encounters. Self-Published.

Lee, M (2015). *Encounters Book* [Photograph]. Minny Lee Fine Art. https://www.minnyleefineart.com/encounters-editions

Leitch, B (2020). Rocks [Photograph]. Beth Leitch Photography. https://www.bethleitch.com

Leitch, B (2020). Coast [Photograph]. Beth Leitch Photography. https://www.bethleitch.com

Lens Culture. (n.d.). *Blanco: Silent Landscapes - Interview with Awoiska van der Molen*. LensCulture. https://www.lensculture.com/articles/awoiska-van-der-molen-blanco-silent-landscapes

Leung, W. (2021). Two sides of Landscape in ink-wash painting: Chinese Landscape Painting in expressive arts practice. *Creative Arts in Education and Therapy* (CAET), 6(2), 209-220. https://doi.org/10.15212/CAET/2020/6/23

Levine, G. (2017). Long Strange Journey: On Modern Zen, Zen Art, and Other Predicaments. University of Hawai'i Press. https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctvvn1jn

Lynch, J (2017). Family Portraits [Photograph]. Janelle Lynch. https://janellelynch.net/portraits

Lynch, J (2015-2018). *Another Way of Looking at Love* [Photograph]. Janelle Lynch. https://janellelynch.net/another-way-of-looking-at-love

Lynch, J. (n.d.). *Another Way of Looking at Love*. Janelle Lynch. https://janellelynch.net/another-way-of-looking-at-love

Lynch, J. (2018). Another Way of Looking at Love. Radius Books.

Lynch, J (2018). *Accordion pages of "Janelle Lynch: Another Way of Looking at Love"* [Photograph]. Lens Culture. https://www.lensculture.com/articles/janelle-lynch-another-way-of-looking-at-love

Macfarlane, R. (2012). The Old Ways - A Journey on Foot. Penguin Books Limited.

MACK. (n.d.). *Unnamed Road Jungjin Lee*. MACK. https://mackbooks.co.uk/products/unnamed-road-br-jungjin-lee

Markham, C. R. (2010). The letters of Amerigo Vespucci and other documents illustrative of his career. Taylor & Francis Group. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/HUD/detail.action? docID=3002216&pq-origsite=summon#

Nagapriya, . (2014). Visions of Mahayana Buddhism. Windhorse Publications Limited.

National Geographic Society. (n.d.). *Landscape*. National Geographic. https://www.nationalgeographic.org/encyclopedia/landscape/

Nations Online. (n.d.). *Five Elements or the Five States of Change*. One World Nations Online. https://www.nationsonline.org/oneworld/Chinese_Customs/five_elements.htm

Nations Online. (n.d.). *Taoism - Chinese Customs and Beliefs*. One World Nations Online. https://www.nationsonline.org/oneworld/Chinese_Customs/taoism.htm

New World Encyclopedia. (n.d.). *Shan shui*. New World Encyclopedia. https:// www.newworldencyclopedia.org/entry/Shan_shui

Oxford Languages. (n.d.). *Waiting*. Oxford Languages. https://languages.oup.com/google-dictionary-en/

Oxford Languages. (n.d.). *Gaze*. Oxford Languages. https://languages.oup.com/google-dictionaryen/

Peeples, J. (2011). Toxic sublime: Imaging contaminated landscapes. *Environmental Communication*, 5(4), 373-392. https://doi.org/10.1080/17524032.2011.616516

PKM Gallery. (2020). VOICE. Jungjin Lee. http://www.jungjinlee.com/news

Randall, T. (2002). *JUNG JIN LEE beyond photography*. Pasatiemto Magazine. http://www.jungjinlee.com/pasatiemto-magagine

Reirin (n.d.). Enso [brush and ink painting]. Zen Paintings. http://zenpaintings.com/article-enso.htm

Rexer, L. (2018). *INTERVIEW with Jungjin Lee*. Jungjin Lee. http://www.jungjinlee.com/ photograph_sept-2018-lyle-rexer

Ruskin, J. (1856). Modern Painters. J.Wiley.

Schama, S. (2004). Landscape & Memory. Harper Press.

Shaw, P. (2017). The Sublime (2nd ed.). Routledge.

Simpkins, C., & Simpkins, A. (1999). *Simple Taoism* | *A Guide to Living in Balance*. Tuttle Publishing.

Solorio, P. (n.d.). "Encounters" by Minny Lee. Tracking Art. https://trackingart.wordpress.com/ 2011/11/21/encounters-by-minny-lee/

Solnit, R. (2014). Wanderlust (3rd ed.). Granta Books.

Sontag, S. (2005). On Photography. RosettaBooks.

Stanford Encylopedia of Philosophy. (2003). *Michel Foucault*. Stanford Encylopedia of Philosophy. https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/foucault/

Stanford Encylopedia of Philosophy. (2003). *Daoism*. Stanford Encylopedia of Philosophy. https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/daoism/

Sweet, B. (n.d.). Zen Circles of Illumination. Zen Paintings. http://zenpaintings.com/articleenso.htm

Tate. (n.d.). Romanticism. Tate. https://www.tate.org.uk/art/art-terms/r/romanticism

The Art Story. (n.d.). *Caspar David Friedrich*. The Art Story. https://www.theartstory.org/artist/friedrich-caspar-david/

The Metropolitan Museum of Art. (2002). *Ming Dynasty (1368–1644)*. The Met. https://www.metmuseum.org/toah/hd/ming/hd_ming.htm

The Zen Studies Society. (n.d.). *What is Zen?*. Zen Studies. https://zenstudies.org/teachings/what-is-zen/

Toney, R. (2013). *An Interview with Artist-in-Residence Janelle Lynch*. Burchfield Penney Art Center. https://www.burchfieldpenney.org/general/blog/article:06-07-2013-12-00am-an-interview-with-artist-in-residence-janelle-lynch/

Tufnell, B. (2009). Untitled. In .TRUE (pp. 26-29). Haunch of Venison.

U.S. National Park Service. (n.d.). *Yosemite National Park*. National Park Service. https://www.nps.gov/yose/index.htm

Van der Molen, A. (2017). Blanco. Fw:Books.

Van der Molen, A (2017). *Blanco Book* [Photograph]. Fw:Books. https://fw-books.nl/product/ awoiska-van-der-molen-blanco/

Van der Molen, A. (n.d.). About. Awoiska v/d Molen. https://www.awoiska.nl/biography#about

Van der Molen, A(2011). #274-5 [Photograph]. Awoiska v/d Molen. https://www.awoiska.nl/works/2009-2014-nature

Wang, R. (2012). *Yinyang - The Way of Heaven and Earth in Chinese Thought and Culture*. Cambridge University Press.

Wenning, M. (2011). Kant and Daoism on nothingness. *Journal of Chinese Philosophy*, 38(4), 556-568. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6253.2011.01675.x

Wright, D. (2007). Zen Ritual: Studies of Zen Buddhist Theory in Practice. Oxford University Press

<u>Bibliography</u>

Adams, A (1927). *Monolith, the Face of Half Dome* [Photograph]. The Met. https://www.metmuseum.org/art/collection/search/262595

Adams, R. (1996). *Beauty in Photography: Essays in defense of traditional values* (2nd ed.). Aperture Foundation.

Alexander, J. (2015). Perspectives on place : Theory and Practice in Landscape. Bloomsbury.

Albert, K. (n.d.). *Mountains and Water in Chinese Art*. International Forum. http://www.internationalforum.com/Articles/Mountains%20and%20Water%20in%20Chinese%20Art.htm

American Suburb X. (2012). *New Topographics: "Landscape and the West - Irony and Critique in New Topographic Photography"*. ASX. https://americansuburbx.com/2012/05/new-topographics-landscape-and-the-west-irony-and-critique-in-new-topographic-photography-2005.html

Andrews, H., & Roberts, L. (2012). Liminal Landscapes: Travel, Experience and Spaces Inbetween. Taylor & Francis Group. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/HUD/detail.action? docID=957646&pq-origsite=summon

Antrop, M., & Eetvelde, V. (2017). Landscape Perspectives: The Holistic Nature of Landscape. Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1183-6_3

Atlas Obscura. (n.d.). *Brimham Rocks - North Yorkshire, England*. Atlas Obscura. http://www.atlasobscura.com/places/brimham-rocks

Bachelard, G. (2014). *The Poetics of Space*. (M. Jonas, Trans.) (3rd ed.) Penguin Group. (Original work published 1958).

BBC. (n.d.). Zen Buddhism. BBC. https://www.bbc.co.uk/religion/religions/buddhism/subdivisions/ zen_1.shtml

Bell, J. (2013). *Contemporary Art and the Sublime*. TATE. https://www.tate.org.uk/art/research-publications/the-sublime/julian-bell-contemporary-art-and-the-sublime-r1108499

Benson, J. (2008). *Aesthetic and other values in the rural landscape*. Environmental Values, 17(2), 221-238. https://www.jstor.org/stable/30302639?seq=1

Berger, J. (1972). Ways of Seeing. Penguin Books.

Berleant, A. (1979). The visual arts and the art of the unseen. *Leonardo*, 12(3), 231-235. https://doi.org/10.2307/1574218

Bing, X. (n.d.). *ARTWORK - Background Story*. Xu Bing. http://www.xubing.com/en/work/details/ 374?year=2004&type=year

Boomoon, (n.d.). *works*. Boomoon | Photography. http://www.boomoon.net/work.html? mode=deep&type=view&id=3025&cid=8

Boomoon, . (2010). Naksan. Nazraeli Press.

Boomoon, (n.d.). *Biography*. Boomoon | Photography. http://www.boomoon.net/biography.html

Boomoon (2016). *Falling Water #8350* [Photograph]. Boomoon|Photography. http://www.boomoon.net/work.html?mode=deep&type=view&id=3014&cid=3

Boomoon (2016). *Falling Water #5580* [Photograph]. Boomoon|Photography. http://www.boomoon.net/work.html?mode=deep&type=view&id=3014&cid=3

Boomoon (2016). *Falling Water* [Screenshot]. BOOMOON. http://www.boomoon.net/work.html? mode=deep

Boomoon (2010). Naksan [Photograph]. Biblioscapes. https://biblioscapes.com/library/naksan

Borghini, A. (2019). *The Beautiful, the Sublime, and the Picturesque*. ThoughCo.. https://www.thoughtco.com/beautiful-sublime-and-picturesque-2670628

Bowie, C. (2011, October 26). *Jungjin Lee: The Stillness of Wind*. UNTITLED. http://untitled.pnca.edu/articles/show/1329/

Brady, E. (2013). *The Sublime in Modern Philosophy: Aesthetics, Ethics, and Nature*. Cambridge University Press.

Britannica. (n.d.). Skandha - Buddhism. Britannica. https://www.britannica.com/topic/skandha

Britannica. (n.d.). Aesthetics. Britannica. https://www.britannica.com/topic/aesthetics

Britannica. (n.d.). Sunyata. Britannica. https://www.britannica.com/topic/sunyata

British Geological Survey. (n.d.). *The BGS Lexicon of Named Rock Units* — *Result Details*. BGS. https://webapps.bgs.ac.uk/lexicon/lexicon.cfm?pub=HAO

Brüesch, P. (2011). *Water - its significance in science, in nature and culture, in world religions and in the universe* [Report, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology ETH]. https://www.research-collection.ethz.ch/bitstream/handle/20.500.11850/152589/eth-2577-11.pdf? sequence=11&isAllowed=y

Burke, E. (1824). *A Philosophical Enquiry Into the Origin of Our Ideas of the Sublime and Beautiful*. A. Robertson & Company. (Original work published 1757).

Cai, M. (2019, January 14). *Chinese Shan Shui Painting Through the Yuan Dynasty*. The Epoch Times . https://www.theepochtimes.com/chinese-shan-shui-painting-through-the-yuan-dynasty_2763845.html?welcomeuser=1

Cartwright, M. (2018). *Yin and Yang*. World History Encyclopedia. https://www.worldhistory.org/ Yin_and_Yang/

Caspar David Friedrich. (n.d.). *Caspar David Friedrich*. Caspar David Friedrich - The Complete Works. https://www.caspardavidfriedrich.org

Cazeaux, C. (2011). The Continental Aesthetics Reader (2nd ed.). Routledge.

Chai, D. (2014). *NOTHINGNESS AND THE CLEARING: HEIDEGGER, DAOISM AND THE QUEST FOR PRIMAL CLARITY.* The Review of Metaphysics, 67(3), 583-601. https://www.jstor.org/stable/24636738?seq=1

Chem Europe. (n.d.). *Classical Element*. ChemEurope.com. https://www.chemeurope.com/en/encyclopedia/Classical_element.html

Chen, Z (1368/1644). *The North Sea* [Handscroll: ink and light color on silk]. Google Arts and Culture. https://artsandculture.google.com/asset/the-north-sea-zhou-chen/cwE_VtknaL4jgw?hl=en

China Online Museum. (n.d.). *Shitao*. China Online Museum. https://www.comuseum.com/painting/masters/shitao/

China Online Museum. (n.d.). *Chinese landscape painting*. China Online Museum . https://www.comuseum.com/painting/landscape-painting/

Chinasage. (n.d.). *Chinese Symbolism of natural elements*. Chinasage. https://www.chinasage.info/ symbols/nature.htm#XLXLSymMountain

Chung, S. K. (2014). Looking at art teaching through Zen aesthetics. *Visual Arts Research*, 40(1), 14-16. https://doi.org/10.5406/visuartsrese.40.1.0014

Clark, T. (2016). In Praise of Walking. ArtWorks.

Compare Rocks. (n.d.). *Formation of Gritstone*. Compare Rocks. rocks.comparenature.com/en/ formation-of-gritstone/model-61-8

Confucius, ., & Slingerland, E. (2003). *Confucius Analects: With Selections from Traditional Commentaries*. (E. Slingerland, Trans.) Hackett Publishing. (Original work published unknown).

Cooper, T. J. (2017). *Gauging the Distance - The Reach for Extremity and Emptiness* [PhD Thesis, University of Glasgow]. http://radar.gsa.ac.uk/5300/

Cooper, T. J. (2009). True. Haunch of Venison.

Cooper, T. J. (1988). Dreaming the Gokstadt . Graeme Murray.

Cooper, T. J. (2009). True. Haunch of Venison.

Cooper, T.J (2021). *True Book* [Photograph]. Beth Leitch Photography. https:// bethleitchphotography.wordpress.com/blog/

Cooper, T.J (2021). *Looking towards Sweden* [Photograph]. Beth Leitch Photography. https:// bethleitchphotography.wordpress.com/blog/

Cooper, T.J (2021). *Maps in True* [Photograph]. Beth Leitch Photography. https:// bethleitchphotography.wordpress.com/blog/

Cooper, T (1990-2001). *The Swelling of the Sea* | *Furthest West - The Atlantic Ocean* | *Point Ardnamurchan, Scotland* | *The West-most point of mainland Great Britain* [Photograph]. Tate. https://www.tate.org.uk/art/artists/thomas-joshua-cooper-4744

Cooper, T.J (2004). *First Light—The South Indian Ocean, the Cape of Good Hope, #2, South Africa, the Southwest-Most Point of Continental Africa* [Photograph]. LACMA. https://www.lacma.org/art/exhibition/thomas-joshua-cooper-worlds-edge

Cosgrove, D. E. (1998). Social Formation and Symbolic Landscape (illustrated, reprint ed.). University of Wisconsin Press.

Cosgrove, D. (1999). Mappings. Reaktion Books.

Cosgrove, D. (2008). Introduction to Social Formation and Symbolic Landscape. In R. DeLue, & J. Elkins (Eds.), *Landscape Theory* (pp. 17-42). Routledge.

Cox, R. (2003). *The Zen Arts : An Anthropological Study of the Culture of Aesthetic Form in Japan : An Anthropological Study of the Culture of Aesthetic Form in Japan*. Taylor & Francis Group. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/hud/detail.action?docID=1542734#

Daniels, S. (2008). Landscape and Narrative. In R. DeLue, & J. Elkins (Eds.), *Landscape Theory* (pp. 238-241). Routledge.

Darshams, S. (n.d.). *What is the "Divine" in Buddhism*?. Soka Humanism. https://www.sokahumanism.com/nichiren-buddhism/What_is_Divine_in_Buddhism.html

DeLue, R. (2015). Is landscape theory?. In G. Doherty, & C. Waldheim (Eds.), *Is Landscape...? Essays on the identity of Landscape* (pp. 261-284). Taylor & Francis. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/HUD/detail.action?docID=4014844&pq-origsite=summon

DeLue, R., & Elkins, J. (2008). Landscape Theory. Routledge.

Dewey, J. (2005). Art as Experience. Perigee Books.

Diep, V. T. (2017). The landscape of the void: truth and magic in chinese landscape painting. *Journal of Visual Art Practice*, 16(1), 77-86. https://doi.org/10.1080/14702029.2016.1245489

Diep, V. (2017). *Chinese landscape painting: landscape as Void, landscape as truth*. Poignant Landscapes. https://poignantlandscapes.wordpress.com/2017/10/10/chinese-landscape-painting-landscape-as-void-landscape-as-truth/

Doherty, G., & Waldheim, C. (2015). *Is Landscape...?: Essays on the identity of Landscape*. Taylor & Francis Group.

Emerson, R . (1849). *Nature and Culture : American Landscape and Painting*. Ralph Waldo Emerson. https://emersoncentral.com/texts/nature-addresses-lectures/ nature2/chapter1-nature/

Emmanuel, S. (2013). A Companion to Buddhist Philosophy. John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated.

FK magazine. (2015). *Interview with Awoiska van der Molen*. FK. https://fkmagazine.lv/ 2015/01/14/interview-with-awoiska-van-der-molen/

Flowers Gallery. (n.d.). *Boomoon - Waterfalls* . Flowers Gallery. https://www.flowersgallery.com/exhibitions/504-boomoon-waterfalls/

Foster, H., Baker, G., Bois, Y., Buchloh, B., & Dickerman, L. (1996). *The Return of the Real*. MIT Press.

Friedrich, C (1808/1810). *Monk by the Sea* [Oil on canvas]. Google Arts and Culture. https://artsandculture.google.com/asset/mönch-am-meer/KwEv_TMiJhn5kA?hl=en-GB

Frye, K. (1993). *Luminist elements in contemporary American landscape painting* [Student Works, Colorado State University]. https://mountainscholar.org/handle/10217/179708

Garside, P., & Copley, S. (1994). *The Politics of the Picturesque: Literature, Landscape and Aesthetics Since 1770* (illustrated, reprint ed.). Cambridge University Press.

Giblett, R., & Tolonen, J. (2013). Photography and Landscape. Intellect Books.

Giblett, R. (2009). *Wilderness to wasteland in the photography of the American west*. Journal of Media & Cultural Studies, 23(1), 43-52. https://doi.org/libaccess.hud.ac.uk/ 10.1080/10304310802570866

Gilpin, W. (1768). An Essay on Prints. J.Robson.

Gilpin, W. (1794). *Three Essays: On Picturesque Beauty; On Picturesque Travel; and On Sketching Landscape: to which is Added a Poem, On Landscape Painting.* R.Blamire.

Godfrey, A. C. (2020). *Active Landscape Photography: Theoretical Groundwork for Landscape Architecture* (illustrated ed.). Routledge.

Greenwald, L. (n.d.). *Another Way of Looking at Love*. Fraction Magazine. http:// www.fractionmagazine.com/another-way-of-looking-at-love Griffin Museum of Photography. (2020). *Minny Lee | Artists Photobook Initiative*. Griffin Museum of Photography. https://griffinmuseum.org/minny-lee-artists-photobook-initiative/

Groth, P., & Bressi, T. (1997). Understanding Ordinary Landscapes. Yale University Press.

Hagen, S. (1999). Buddhism Plain and Simple. Penguin Books.

Hayden, D. (1997). Urban Landscape History: The Sense of Place and the Politics of Space. In P. Groth, & T. Bressi (Eds.), *Understanding Ordinary Landscapes* (pp. 111-133). Yale University Press.

Heart of the Pennines. (n.d.). *Landscape & Nature*. Heart of the Pennines. http:// heartofthepennines.org.uk/paths_landscape/

Hellman, K., & Abbott, B. (2012). Landscape in Photographs (illustrated ed.). Getty Publications.

Hepburn, R. W. (1996). Landscape and the metaphysical imagination. *Environmental Values*, 5(3), 191-204. https://www.jstor.org/stable/30301412

Hostetler, A.L. (2004). *Alfred Stieglitz (1864–1946) and American Photography*. Metropolitan Museum of Art. https:// www.metmuseum.org/toah/hd/stgp/hd_stgp.htm

Howard Greenberg Gallery. (n.d.). *Jungjin Lee: Opening*. Howard Greenberg Gallery. https://www.howardgreenberg.com/exhibitions/jungjin-lee-opening/installation-views?view=slider

International Federation of Landscape Architects (2017) *The Aesthetic Value of Landscapes Background and Assessment Guide* (ICOMOS No.2). International Scientific Committee of Cultural Landscapes. https://culturallandscapesandroutesnsc.files.wordpress.com/2018/03/aes-value-oflandscape-guide-10-aug-2017.pdf

Jackson, J. (1984). *Discovering the Vernacular Landscape* (illustrated, reprint, revised ed.). Yale University Press.

Jaffe, R. M. (2015). *Selected Works of D.T.Suzuki, Volume 1: Zen*. University of California Press. https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1525/j.ctt9qh2v5

Joslyn Art Museum. (2020, April 16). *Finding the Landscape in the 21st Century* [Video]. Joslyn Art Museum. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Iqs7JpD8tyk

Kabat-Zinn, J. (2016). *Wherever You Go, There You Are : Mindfulness Meditation for Everyday Life*. Little, Brown Book Group.

Kant, I. (2000). *Critique of the Power of Judgment*. (P. Guyer & E. Matthews, Trans.) (revised, reprint ed.) Cambridge University Press. (Original work published 1790).

Kant, I. (2003). *Observations on the Feeling of the Beautiful and Sublime*. (J. Goldthwait, Trans.) (reprint ed.) University of California Press. (Original work published 1764).

Kelsey, R. (2015). Is landscape photography?. In G. Doherty, & C. Waldheim (Eds.), *Is Landscape...? Essays on the identity of Landscape* (pp. 71-92). Taylor & Francis. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/HUD/detail.action?docID=4014844&pq-origsite=summon

Kenna, M. (2005, May 10). *There and Zen*. Times, 16[S]. https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/ IF0502752269/TTDA?u=hudduni&sid=TTDA&xid=44344649

Kennedy, R. (2012, January 15). *Into the Heart of Lightness*. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2012/01/15/arts/design/doug-wheeler-builds-infinity-environment-at-david-zwirner.html

Kul-Want, C., & Klimowski, A. (2011). Introducing Kant: A Graphic Guide. Icon Books. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/HUD/detail.action?docID=4782008&pq-origsite=summon

Lee, J (n.d.). *Jungjin Lee:Opening Exhibition* [Photograph]. Howard Greenberg Gallery. https://www.howardgreenberg.com/exhibitions/jungjin-lee-opening/installation-views?view=slider#2

Lee, J (n.d.). Untitled [Photograph]. http://www.jungjinlee.com/voice.

Lee, J (2017). Opening Book [Photograph]. Shashasha. https://www.shashasha.co/en/book/opening

Lee, J. (2017). Opening. Nazraeli Press.

Lee, M. (n.d.). Encounters. Minny Lee. http://www.minnylee.com

Lee, M. (2015). Encounters. Self-Published.

Lee, M (2015). *Encounters Book* [Photograph]. Minny Lee Fine Art. https://www.minnyleefineart.com/encounters-editions

Lee, M. (n.d.). *About the Artist*. Minny Lee - self in place. https://www.minnylee.com/about-the-artist

Lee, M (2008-2010). *Encounters* [Photograph]. Minny Lee - self in place. https://www.minnylee.com

Leighton, T. (2007). Zazen as an Enactment Ritual. In D. Wright (Ed.), *Zen Ritual: Studies of Zen Buddhist Theory in Practice* (pp. 167-184). Oxford University Press.

Leitch, B (2020). Rocks [Photograph]. Beth Leitch Photography. https://www.bethleitch.com

Leitch, B (2020). Coast [Photograph]. Beth Leitch Photography. https://www.bethleitch.com

Lens Culture. (n.d.). *Blanco: Silent Landscapes - Interview with Awoiska van der Molen*. LensCulture. https://www.lensculture.com/articles/awoiska-van-der-molen-blanco-silent-landscapes Leung, W. (2021). Two sides of Landscape in ink-wash painting: Chinese Landscape Painting in expressive arts practice. *Creative Arts in Education and Therapy* (CAET), 6(2), 209-220. https://doi.org/10.15212/CAET/2020/6/23

Levine, G. (2017). Long Strange Journey: On Modern Zen, Zen Art, and Other Predicaments. University of Hawai'i Press. https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctvvn1jn

Lörzing, H. (2001). The Nature of Landscape: A Personal Quest. 010 Publishers.

Lynch, J. (n.d.). *Another Way of Looking at Love*. Janelle Lynch. https://janellelynch.net/another-way-of-looking-at-love

Lynch, J (2015-2018). *Another Way of Looking at Love* [Photograph]. Janelle Lynch. https://janellelynch.net/another-way-of-looking-at-love

Lynch, J (2017). Family Portraits [Photograph]. Janelle Lynch. https://janellelynch.net/portraits

Lynch, J. (2018). Another Way of Looking at Love. Radius Books.

Lynch, J (2018). *Accordion pages of "Janelle Lynch: Another Way of Looking at Love"* [Photograph]. Lens Culture. https://www.lensculture.com/articles/janelle-lynch-another-way-of-looking-at-love

Macfarlane, R. (2012). The Old Ways - A Journey on Foot. Penguin Books Limited.

MACK. (n.d.). *Unnamed Road Jungjin Lee*. MACK. https://mackbooks.co.uk/products/unnamed-road-br-jungjin-lee

Mancall, P. C. (1998). The age of discovery. *Reviews in American History*, 26(1), 26-53. https://www.jstor.org/stable/30030873

Mark, E. (2016). *Tang Dynasty*. World History Encyclopedia. https://www.worldhistory.org/ Tang_Dynasty/

Markham, C. R. (2010). The letters of Amerigo Vespucci and other documents illustrative of his career. Taylor & Francis Group. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/HUD/detail.action? docID=3002216&pq-origsite=summon#

Marshall, D. (2002). The problem of the picturesque. *Eighteenth-Century Studies*, 35(3), 413-437. https://www.jstor.org/stable/30054207

Mekss, D. (2018). *Photography and the Unseen*. Confluence. https://confluence.gallatin.nyu.edu/ context/interdisciplinary-seminar/photography-and-the-unseen

Moore, K. (2015). Is landscape philosophy?. In G. Doherty, & C. Waldheim (Eds.), *Is Landscape...? Essays on the identity of Landscape* (pp. 285-301). Taylor & Francis. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/HUD/detail.action?docID=4014844&pq-origsite=summon

Munsterberg, H. (1961). Zen and art. Art Journal, 20(4), 198-202. https://doi.org/10.2307/774379

Nagapriya, . (2014). Visions of Mahayana Buddhism. Windhorse Publications Limited.

National Geographic Society. (n.d.). *Landscape*. National Geographic. https://www.nationalgeographic.org/encyclopedia/landscape/

Nations Online. (n.d.). *Five Elements or the Five States of Change*. One World Nations Online. https://www.nationsonline.org/oneworld/Chinese_Customs/five_elements.htm

Nations Online. (n.d.). *Taoism - Chinese Customs and Beliefs*. One World Nations Online. https://www.nationsonline.org/oneworld/Chinese_Customs/taoism.htm

New World Encyclopedia. (n.d.). *Shan shui*. New World Encyclopedia. https:// www.newworldencyclopedia.org/entry/Shan_shui

Novak, B. (2007). *Nature and Culture : American Landscape and Painting* (3rd ed.). Oxford University Press.

Novak, B. (2007). *American Painting of the Nineteenth Century: Realism, Idealism, and the American Experience* (3rd ed.). Oxford University Press.

O'Hagan, S. (2010, February 8). *New Topographics: photographs that find beauty in the banal*. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/artanddesign/2010/feb/08/new-topographics-photographs-american-landscapes

Oxford Languages. (n.d.). *Waiting*. Oxford Languages. https://languages.oup.com/google-dictionary-en/

Oxford Languages. (n.d.). *Gaze*. Oxford Languages. https://languages.oup.com/google-dictionary-en/

Pajaczkowska, C., & White, L. (2009). The Sublime Now.. Cambridge Scholars Publishing.

Patin, T. (2012). Observation Points: The Visual Poetics of National Parks. University of Minnesota Press. http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.5749/j.ctt1b7x58m

Paul Ekman Group. (2019). *Universal Emotions* | *What are Emotions*?. Paul Ekman. https://www.paulekman.com/universal-emotions/

Peeples, J. (2011). *Toxic sublime: Imaging contaminated landscapes*. Environmental Communication, 5(4), 373-392. https://doi.org/10.1080/17524032.2011.616516

PKM Gallery. (2020). VOICE. Jungjin Lee. http://www.jungjinlee.com/news

Powers, M. (2008). Landscape Assessment. In R. DeLue, & J. Elkins (Eds.), Landscape Theory (pp. 259-276). Routledge.

PR Newswire, . (2018, October 9). Shimmering Zen: Different Way to View Las Vegas Landmarks, Neon in new Digital Photo Book & Exhibit -Book launch at Neon Museum Studio Oct. 13, Library Show thru Nov. 24-: A unique interpretation of vintage Las Vegas neon signs and architectural elements through innovative digital technology and Zen Buddhism is captured in new Shimmering Zen photography book by James Stanford.. PR Newswire. https://search.proquest.com/docview/2117155863/citation/456D8C4D3604900PQ/1?accountid=11526

Price, U. (1794). *An Essay on the Picturesque, as Compared with the Sublime and the Beautiful.* J.Robson.

Punter, D. (1994). The Picturesque and the Sublime: two worldscapes. In S. Copley, & P. Garside (Eds.), The Politics of the Picturesque (pp. 220-239). Cambridge University Press.

Randall, T. (2002). *JUNG JIN LEE beyond photography* . Pasatiemto Magazine. http://www.jungjinlee.com/pasatiemto-magagine

Reirin (n.d.). Enso [brush and ink painting]. Zen Paintings. http://zenpaintings.com/article-enso.htm

Rexer, L. (2018). *INTERVIEW with Jungjin Lee*. Jungjin Lee. http://www.jungjinlee.com/ photograph_sept-2018-lyle-rexer

Riley, M. (2017). Place as Palimpsest. Thinking Place. http://thinkingplace.org/heidegger/

Riley, R. (1997). The Visible, the Visual, and the Vicarious: Questions about Vision, Landscape, and Experience. In P. Groth, & T. Bressi (Eds.), Understanding Ordinary Landscapes (pp. 200-210). Yale University Press.

Robinson, P. (n.d.). *Notes on the geology of Staindale and the Bridestones and related walk*.. Rotunda Geology Group. http://www.rotundageologygroup.org/Staindale-and-Bridestones

Rolls, E. (2005). Emotion Explained (illustrated ed.). Oxford University Press.

Rosebery, R. (2015). *An Outline of the Romantic and Contemporary Sublime*. Richard Rosebery. http://richardrosebery.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/An-Outline-of-the-Romantic-Contemporary-Sublime.pdf

Ruskin, J. (1856). Modern Painters. J.Wiley.

Schama, S. (2004). Landscape & Memory. Harper Press.

Shatzman, A. M. (2013). Old World, the New World, and the Creation of the Modern World, 1400-1650 : An Interpretive History. Anthem Press. https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt1gsmzp1

Shaw, P. (2017). The Sublime (2nd ed.). Routledge.

Shi, W. (2017). A generative approach to Chinese Shanshui painting. IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications, 37(1), 15-19. https://doi.org/10.1109/MCG.2017.13

Simpkins, C., & Simpkins, A. (1999). *Simple Taoism | A Guide to Living in Balance*. Tuttle Publishing.

Solorio, P. (n.d.). "Encounters" by Minny Lee. Tracking Art. https://trackingart.wordpress.com/ 2011/11/21/encounters-by-minny-lee/

Solnit, R. (2014). Wanderlust (3rd ed.). Granta Books.

Sontag, S. (2005). On Photography. RosettaBooks.

Stanford Encylopedia of Philosophy. (2003). *Michel Foucault*. Stanford Encylopedia of Philosophy. https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/foucault/

Stanford Encylopedia of Philosophy. (2003). *Daoism*. Stanford Encylopedia of Philosophy. https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/daoism/

Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy Archive. (2006). *Japanese Zen Buddhist Philosophy*. Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy Archive. https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/spr2020/entries/japanese-zen/

Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. (2011). *Martin Heidegger*. Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/heidegger/

Stroop, L. (n.d.). *Infinite and Wild*. Crossing the Atlantic. https://crossingtheatlantic.nl/essay-on-ocean- photography-by-laura-stoop/

Sugimoto, H. (n.d.). Seascapes. Hiroshi Sugimoto. https://www.sugimotohiroshi.com/seascapes-1

Sweeney, J. G. (2003). Inventing luminism: 'labels are the dickens'. Oxford Art Journal, 26(2), 93-120. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3600392

Sweet, B. (n.d.). *Zen Circles of Illumination*. Zen Paintings. http://zenpaintings.com/articleenso.htm

Tate. (n.d.). Romanticism. Tate. https://www.tate.org.uk/art/art-terms/r/romanticism

Tate. (n.d.). Sublime. Tate. https://www.tate.org.uk/art/art-terms/s/sublime

Tate. (n.d.). New Topographics. Tate. https://www.tate.org.uk/art/art-terms/n/new-topographics

Tate. (n.d.). Aesthetics - Art Term. Tate. https://www.tate.org.uk/art/art-terms/a/aesthetics

The Art Story. (n.d.). *Luminism - History and Concepts*. The Art Story. https://www.theartstory.org/ movement/luminism/history-and-concepts/

The Art Story. (n.d.). *The Sublime in Art - Development and Ideas*. The Art Story. https://www.theartstory.org/definition/the-sublime-in-art/

The Art Story. (n.d.). *Caspar David Friedrich*. The Art Story. https://www.theartstory.org/artist/friedrich-caspar-david/

The Journal of Antiquities. (2016). *The Bridestones, Near Todmorden, West Yorkshire*. The Journal of Antiquities. https://thejournalofantiquities.com/2016/08/31/the-bridestones-near-todmorden-west-yorkshire/

The Metropolitan Museum of Art. (2002). *Zen Buddhism*. Metropolitan Museum of Art. https://www.metmuseum.org/toah/hd/zen/hd_zen.htm

The Metropolitan Museum of Art. (2002). *Ming Dynasty (1368–1644)*. The Met. https://www.metmuseum.org/toah/hd/ming/hd_ming.htm

The Metropolitan Museum of Art. (2004). *Landscape Painting in Chinese Art*. Metropolitan Museum of Art. https://www.metmuseum.org/toah/hd/clpg/hd_clpg.htm

The Metropolitan Museum of Art. (2004). *Mountain and Water: Korean Landscape Painting*, 1400–1800. Metropolitan Museum of Art. https://www.metmuseum.org/toah/hd/mowa/hd_mowa.htm

The Zen Studies Society. (n.d.). *What is Zen?*. Zen Studies. https://zenstudies.org/teachings/what-is-zen/

Thomassen, B. (2012). Revisiting liminality: The danger of empty spaces. In H. Andrews, & L. Roberts (Eds.), Liminal Landscapes: Travel, Experience and Spaces In-between (pp. 21-35). Taylor & Francis Group. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/HUD/detail.action?docID=957646&pq-origsite=summon

Thompson, B. (2015). *The Clarity of an Undistracted Mind Has No Preferences*. Zen Thinking. http://www.zenthinking.net/blog/the-clarity-of-an-undistracted-mind-has-no-preferences

Toney, R. (2013). *An Interview with Artist-in-Residence Janelle Lynch*. Burchfield Penney Art Center. https://www.burchfieldpenney.org/general/blog/article:06-07-2013-12-00am-an-interview-with-artist-in-residence-janelle-lynch/

Tuan, Y. (1977). Space and Place: The Perspective of Experience.. E.Arnold.

Tuan, Y. (1990). Topophilia. Columbia University Press.

Tufnell, B. (2009). Untitled. In .TRUE (pp. 26-29). Haunch of Venison.

Tuthill, L. (1873). *The True and the Beautiful in Nature, Art, Morals, and Religion*. John Wiley & Son.

Tymon, B. (n.d.). *West Yorkshire Geology*. W Yorkshire Geology Trust. http:// www.wyorksgeologytrust.org/westyorksgeology.html

Upton, D. (1997). Seen, Unseen, and Scene. In P. Groth, & T. Bressi (Eds.), Understanding Ordinary Landscapes (pp. 174-179). Yale University Press.

U.S. National Park Service. (n.d.). *Yosemite National Park*. National Park Service. https://www.nps.gov/yose/index.htm

Van der Molen, A. (n.d.). About. Awoiska v/d Molen. https://www.awoiska.nl/biography#about

Van der Molen, A(2011). #274-5 [Photograph]. Awoiska v/d Molen. https://www.awoiska.nl/works/2009-2014-nature

Van der Molen, A. (2017). Blanco. FW:Books.

Van der Molen, A (2017). *Blanco Book* [Photograph]. Fw:Books. https://fw-books.nl/product/ awoiska-van-der-molen-blanco/

Wang, R. (2012). *Yinyang - The Way of Heaven and Earth in Chinese Thought and Culture*. Cambridge University Press.

Wells, L. (2012). Sense of Place: European Landscape Photography. Prestel.

Wells, L. (2011). Land Matters: Landscape Photography, Culture and Identity. I.B. Tauris & Co.

Wenning, M. (2011). Kant and daoism on nothingness. Journal of Chinese Philosophy, 38(4), 556-568. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6253.2011.01675.x

Weston, E. (1943). *Seeing Photographically*. The Complete Photographer, 9(49), 3200-3206. https://www.photoquotes.com/showarticles.aspx?id=51&name=Weston,Edward&ArticleID=15

Williams, R. (2014). *THE SEDIMENTARY STRUCTURES AT BRIMHAM ROCKS, NORTH YORKSHIRE*. Our Geological Adventures. https://geologytrails.wordpress.com/2014/04/27/the-sedimentary-structures-at-brimham-rocks-north-yorkshire/

Wilmerding, J. (1980). *American Light: The Luminist Movement, 1850-1875* [Exhibition catalogue]. Exhibited at National Gallery of Art Feb 10 - June 15,1980.

Woolham, S. (2016). *In search of the shortcuts: walking and narrative in physical, virtual and psychological space* [Doctoral thesis, Manchester Metropolitan University]. http://hdl.handle.net/ 2173/612166

Wright, D. (2007). Zen Ritual: Studies of Zen Buddhist Theory in Practice. Oxford University Press.

Yong-kown, K. (n.d.). *Cheongha Fortress: A Definitive 'True-view' Painting*. Korean Heritage. http://www.koreanheritage.kr/feature/view.jsp?articleNo=36